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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M E

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the  ANEEBE AN IKEE 2 44 - BERBEY
last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited consolidated — #fZE#FIM0 T - JoiEsE A B T3 2 K EZ 4R A Bt
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out below: BER  TWELEEEY E]FHHME

For the year ended 31 December
BE+Z-A=1+—HLFE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
—E-RF T—+F ZBE-N\EFE T-hF ZBEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FHET

RESULTS ES 5
Profit/(loss) for the year NEEHR, (E58) 39,428 47,295 24,237 (125,762) 39,482
Attributable to: THIALE

Owners of the Company KAREE A 6,021 19,096 59,163 (104,331) (25,198)

Non-controlling interests e RS 33,407 28,199 (34,926) (21,431) 64,680

39,428 47,295 24,237 (125,762) 39,482
As at 31 December
R+-A=+—H
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
—E-RF ZE—+tF T\ —TNF ZB-EE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAE
Non-current assets IEMENEE 995,452 551,561 779,896 840,035 805,870
Current assets mENEE 1,016,051 2,077,771 3,203,089 2,335,477 2,187,925
Current liabilities mENAE (592,345) (812,933) (2,518,951) (1,865,829) (1,656,639)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (415,057) (432,586) (239,629) (204,407) (96,766)
Net Assets BEFE 1,004,101 1,383,813 1,224,405 1,105,276 1,240,390
Attributable to: THIA LR

Owners of the Company RARER A 572,246 734,657 1,047,318 976,740 1,049,978

Non-controlling interests JEPER RS 431,855 649,156 177,087 128,536 190,412
Total Equity TS 1A %E 1,004,101 1,383,813 1,224,405 1,105,276 1,240,390
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”), | hereby
present the operational results of Tesson Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2020 to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

REVIEW

During the year, the outbreak of the novel coronavirus disease (“COVID-19”)
brought challenges to the world, social development and business activities
were slowed down in the first half of the year, the Group’s operation bases
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) were also temporary closed.
The PRC government implemented several prevention and control measures
in response of the pandemic. In the second half of the year, the epidemic
was basically under control, economic activities restored in orderly manner.
The Group gradually resumed operation to normal scale after taking into
considerations of employees’ health and public concern.

Though the year began with adverse social factors coupled with Sino-US
trade frictions, performance of our core business, being the manufacturing and
sale of lithium ion motive battery, lithium ion battery module, battery charging
devices, battery materials machines and production lines, new energy solution
and sale of relevant equipment, investments holding and import and export
trading (the “Lithium lon Motive Battery Business”), had improvement in
this ever-changing environment. As a result of the market rebound in the new
energy vehicle market since the second quarter and our enhanced product
mix penetrating into more battery applications, revenue from sales of battery
products in the year increased by approximately HK$95,733,000 compared to
that in 2019.

Another business of the Group, being property development, as well as the
cultural industry related business, including large-scale event production and
themed museums, and architectural design and engineering (the “Property
and Cultural Business”), was the main income stream of the Group. The
majority of the revenue was derived from the handover of phase Il property
units of Rongzhou Gangjiucheng* (&) J13k) located in Nanchang, Jiangxi
in the year, whereas the remaining property units in this project and also in
the Group’s residential and commercial project in Nanning were scheduled to
deliver throughout 2021 and 2022.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHE

PROSPECTS

Despite the impact of the pandemic, the Group was optimistic in the future
development. With the release of government policy regarding new energy
vehicles in the PRC, development blueprint of the lithium ion motive battery
industry was clearer that the government will eventually fade out from the
market in the long term and the market demand was shifting from subsidy-
driven to market-driven in the PRC. In the future, the key for sustainable
development in the battery industry would be product quality, which in the
opinion of the Group, rest mostly on stability and long-lasting performance
of the products. The Group would invest more resources to further improve
product quality, as well as to diversify our battery products into wider
applications including different types of home appliance and electrical tools.
The Group is also open to explore new industries which create synergy to our
existing business in order to maximise return for our Shareholders.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to the
Board for their support, and for contributions made by the management
team and staff in the past year. Finally, |, hereby on behalf of the Board, the
management and all employees of the Group, would like to express our
heartfelt thanks for the long-time support and trust from the Shareholders,
business partners and customers.

Tin Kong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE zFwED AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

Lithium lon Motive Battery Business

Looking back the first half of 2020, the worldwide outbreak of COVID-19 had
affected the macroeconomics as well as the new energy vehicle market in
the PRC. With the gradual and stable development of the epidemic, the new
energy vehicle market gradually recovered.

According to the statistics from the China Association of Automobile
Manufacturers, production and sales of new energy vehicles in the first half
of 2020 had both dropped by 37% compared to the same period in 2019.
However, market condition demonstrated a recovery trend since March 2020,
which was even stronger in the second half of 2020. In accordance to the
Economic Operation of the Automobile Industry in December 2020* ({ —
—EF+ZAARETELEETIFN)D) issued by the Ministry of Industrial
and Information Technology of the PRC, throughout the year, production
and sales of new energy vehicles increased by 7.5% and 10.9% respectively
compared to the same period in 2019. With the improved market conditions,
and the fact that the Group successfully cooperated with several large
enterprises, diversifying our battery products into different applications,
including motorcycles, home appliances, and electrical tools, further enhanced
the product mix for our battery products, revenue from sales of our battery
products in the year increased. Meanwhile, the Group implemented several
policies, including re-organisation of human resources, technical enhancement,
and replacement of more efficient raw materials, which had effectively reduced
production and administrative costs.

Besides, the Notice of New Energy Automobile Industry Development Plan
(2021-2035)" ((FrBEIR T E B R 45 8 (2021-20354F ) M@ A1) issued by
the State Council of the PRC on November 2020, anticipated the sales of
new energy vehicles in 2025 will be 20% of new vehicles sold. On December
2020, four ministries and commissions of the PRC jointly issued the Notice
on Further Improving the Financial Subsidy Policy for the Promotion and
Application of New Energy Vehicles* (B8R —F = Z#H LR /TEHEER
BT A BE B EE O3B ANY), subsidy decline in 2021 on new energy vehicles was
20% on the basis of that in 2020. Based on these planning and release of
the policy, the Group expects demands of the automobile manufacturers will
subject to less fluctuation and increase steady in the future. The Group will
continue to develop its automobile battery products, and expand its market
share in the electric motorcycle, sales revenue is expected to increase. With
the rise in production volume, the Group may achieve economy of scale,
optimise the use of resources and eventually increase the gross profit of the
battery products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE zFwED AT

Property and Cultural Business

During the year, more property units in Rongzhou Gangjiucheng* which was
the main property project of the Group located in Nanchang, Jiangxi, were
handed over and contributed a significant portion of revenue to the Group.
Another project of the Group, Fengxiang Terrace — Rongzhou Cultural Center*
(Bl & — AN bs L), was located in Nanning, Guangxi, adjacent to
Qingxiu Shan national 5A-level scenic spot, connected to the business area of
the city with comprehensive ancillary facilities and transport network. The pre-
sale of Fengxiang Terrace* was start in late-2019 and had satisfactory sales
performance, up to the end of 2020, the majority part of the residential units
available for sale was sold. It is expected that the handover process of part of
the property units can be started from the end of the year to early next year at
the earliest.

The Group will continue the construction of the remaining portion in Rongzhou
Gangjiucheng*, and the commercial and residential project in Fengxiang
Terrace®, as well as to commence the staff dormitory project in Lishui, Nanjing
in consistent with the construction progress of the battery pack factory in the
same area.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

In response to the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group’s production facilities in
the PRC had once maintained limited operation in 2020, resulting a temporary
decrease in production volume. With the resume of normal operation, the
Group will continue to implement new measures to optimise resources
allocation and further enhance our product quality. In respect of product
research and development, the Group will proactively inject resources to
further improve the quality of battery for new energy vehicles, as well as to
build up international research team to develop diversified battery products in
home appliances aspect. Construction of phase Ill production base in Weinan,
Shaanxi, as well as the battery pack factory in Nanjing, Jiangsu will also be
focused in order to lay a solid base for the Group’s future development.

Under the Sino-US trade conflicts and the outbreak of COVID-19, the business
environment is full of challenges. Nonetheless, the Group remains cautiously
optimistic about the lithium ion motive battery market as well as the property
market in the PRC. With our wealth of experience, the Directors believe that
the Group will gradually overcome the prevailing challenges and continue
to develop its businesses. The Group will continue to develop our existing
projects, and seize to capture any opportunities in new areas or business that
create synergy to the Group’s existing businesses, including trading of medical
equipments and development of education areas. The Group will endeavour
to overcome challenges ahead, and realise its value to the Shareholders and
business partners of the Group as always.

8 Tesson Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue and gross profit ratio
Lithium lon Motive Battery Business

In the first half of 2020, COVID-19 outbreak had driven global economic
downturn derived, however the market recovered in the second half of the
year, revenue from the Lithium lon Motive Battery Business increased to
approximately HK$149,171,000 (2019: HK$53,438,000), mainly due to the
growth in customer base and further enhancement of our battery product
quality. The Group will continue our strategy of diversifying customer base,
increase market share, at the same time reduce overhead cost and promote
more efficient working environment in order to further improve gross profit to
our battery products.

Property and Cultural Business

During the year, part of the phase Il properties units with total gross floor
area of 66,640 square meters (2019: 123,646 square meters) of Rongzhou
Gangjiucheng* had been delivered to the customers and contributed to the
Group’s revenue in the amount of approximately HK$603,833,000 (2019:
HK$839,225,000).

The cultural business contributed to the Group’s revenue in the amount of
approximately HK$9,887,000 (2019: HK$19,683,000), the decrease was in
line with the reduced number of events and exhibitions due to the temporary
closure of themed museums in response to the COVID-19 outbreak.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2020 decreased
to approximately HK$162,930,000 from approximately HK$174,470,000
in 2019. In the year, as a result of an increased stability of the battery
products, no provision was made in this respect (2019: HK$46,748,000).
The reduction was partly absorbed by the loss on disposal of investment
properties of approximately HK$9,377,000 and the increase in depreciation to
approximately HK$53,231,000 (2019: HK$32,113,000) due to reclassification
to administrative expenses upon maintenance and redeployment of production
lines to smoothen production process.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE zFwED AT

Distribution and selling expenses

During the year, the Group incurred distribution and selling expenses at
approximately HK$15,309,000 which was comparable to that in 2019 at
approximately HK$14,420,000. The expenses mostly represented staff
costs of approximately HK$5,272,000 (2019: HK$5,654,000), marketing
expenses of approximately HK$3,779,000 (2019: HK$4,091,000) and
travelling and entertainment expenses of approximately HK$2,837,000 (2019:
HK$1,049,000).

Other income

Other income for the year ended 31 December 2020 reduced to approximately
HK$5,331,000 (2019: HK$12,343,000), mainly due to the drop in government
grant to approximately HK$2,213,000 (2019: HK$11,147,000).

Finance costs

Finance costs net of interests capitalised in the year decreased to
approximately HK$12,951,000 (2019: HK$17,036,000) primarily because of
the drop in general loan balance compared to that in mid-2019, as well as
settlement on amount due to the controlling shareholder during the year.

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share

Basic and diluted loss per share in the year ended 31 December 2020 were
both HK2.11 cents (2019: HK8.77 cents).

In anticipation of the funds required for the development of the Lithium lon
Motive Battery Business, the Board does not recommend the payment of a
final dividend for the year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group maintained sufficient working capital as at 31 December 2020 with
net current assets of approximately HK$531,286,000 (31 December 2019:
HK$469,648,000) and pledged bank deposits and bank and cash balances
in the aggregate amount of approximately HK$15,109,000 (31 December
2019: HK$36,730,000). The gearing ratio of the Group (which was expressed
as a percentage of total borrowings excluding the liabilities portion of the
convertible bonds over total equity) was about 20.24% as at 31 December
2020 (31 December 2019: 23.87%).

/] O Tesson Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 28 February 2017, the Company issued convertible bonds in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$300,000,000 with a coupon rate of 3% for replacing
part of its loan form the Controlling Shareholder. No proceeds had been raised
on the issue of Convertible Bonds. On 16 April 2018, an equivalent amount
of HK$240,000,000 convertible bonds has been converted into 150,000,000
Ordinary Shares of the Company to the Controlling Shareholder. Immediately
after the completion of conversion Shares, the Convertible Bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$60,000,000 remain outstanding.

On 26 August 2020, the Company exercised its redemption right to early
redeem the existing outstanding Convertible Bonds and served a redemption
notice pursuant to the subscription agreement made on 17 January 2017
for redeeming an outstanding principal amount of HK$60,000,000 of the
Convertible Bonds, which was settled in cash with interest in arrears. Following
and as a result of the aforesaid redemption of Convertible Bonds, there was
no outstanding Convertible Bonds.

EMPLOYMENT

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had approximately 504 employees (2019:
493), most of whom were working in the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC.
During the year, the total employees’ costs including Directors’ emoluments
were approximately HK$68,191,000 (2019: HK$76,385,000).

The Group has developed its human resources policies and procedures based
on performance and merit. Employees are rewarded on a performance basis
within the general framework of its salary and bonus system. Discretionary
bonus is linked to the performance of the Group as well as individual
performance. Benefits include staff accommodation, medical schemes, share
option scheme, Mandatory Provident Fund for employees in Hong Kong and
state — sponsored retirement plans for employees in the PRC. The Group
has also developed training programs for its management and employees to
promote career advancement of the staffs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE zFwED AT

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Since sales and purchase for the Lithium lon Motive Battery Business and the
Property and Cultural Business are denominated in RMB, the management
considers that the Group’s exposure to exchange risks is minimal. However,
the Company faces foreign exchange risks when it conducts fund raising
activities in Hong Kong (in HK$) and remits funds to its subsidiaries in the PRC
(in RMB). The Board will continue to monitor foreign exchange exposure in the
future.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (2019: Nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of pledged assets as at 31 December 2020 are set out in Note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2020, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAEBRFN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tin Kong

Mr. Tin Kong (“Mr. Tin”), aged 60, is a Hong Kong resident. Mr. Tin has been
executive Director of the Company and the chairman of the Board since 27
August 2015 and has been appointed as the chief executive officer of the
Company on 1 August 2019. He has been an authorised representative of
the Company, the chairman of the nomination committee and internal control
committee of the Company, and a member of remuneration committee of the
Company since March 2016. Mr. Tin holds directorships in certain subsidiaries
of the Company. He is also a director of Double Key International Limited, the
controlling shareholder of the Company. He graduated from the Department of
Economics and Management in Beijing Academy of Cultural Administration* (it
RXHEERBRLBEEESR).

Ms. Cheng Hung Mui

Ms. Cheng Hung Mui (“Ms. Cheng”), aged 50, is a Hong Kong resident and
an individual investor. Ms. Cheng was appointed as an executive Director
of the Company on 27 June 2014. Ms. Cheng is the beneficial owner and
director of Double Key International Limited, the controlling shareholder of the
Company.

Mr. Chen Dekun

Mr. Chen Dekun (“Mr. Chen”), aged 58, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 25 June 2015 and was appointed as the general
manager of the Lithium lon Motive Battery Business of the Group in 2018. He
has more than 30 years of experience in investment, trading and management.

Mr. Sheng Siguang

Mr. Sheng Siguang (“Mr. Sheng”), aged 48, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 8 March 2016. He was the chief executive officer
of the Company since 8 February 2018 and resigned on 1 August 2019. Mr.
Sheng holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company. He was also
in charge of the Lithium lon Motive Battery Business of the Group. He received
a master’s degree in industrial economy from Nanjing Southeast University in
September 2006. He also graduated from Nanjing University of Aeronautics
and Astronautics with an associate degree and a bachelor’s degree in applied
electronic technology in 1993. Mr. Sheng has served in a major state-owned
electronic enterprise in the PRC as the quality manager, head of quality
department and head of purchasing department. Mr. Sheng has extensive
experience in investment management. Mr. Sheng’s spouse, Ms. Wang Jin, is
a beneficial owner of 13,994,253 shares of the Company within the meaning
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of The Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAEBRFN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Jinlin

Mr. Wang Jinlin (“Mr. Wang”), aged 56, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 24 March 2015. He is a member of
the audit committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination committee
and the internal control committee of the Company. Mr. Wang graduated
from Zhejiang University and obtained a bachelor’s degree in 1984. He is
a senior engineer and used to serve as deputy general manager of Jiaxing
Silk Spinning Factory* (32 B148%45 /%), deputy general manager and general
manager of Zhejiang Jinying Silk Spinning Co., Ltd.* (#T % E445 B A7),
and deputy general manager of Zhejiang Jinying Holding Limited, possessing
rich experience in corporate management and practice. He was a member of
CPPC of Jiaxing, a director of Chinese Silk Industry Association* (Ff B #4 43
T Z13®) and vice chairman of the silk spinning branch of the Chinese Silk
Industry Association.

Dr. Ng Ka Wing

Dr. Ng Ka Wing (“Dr. Ng”), aged 64, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 8 March 2016. He is the chairman
of the remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee, the
nomination committee and the internal control committee of the Company.
Dr. Ng received a Doctor Honoris Causa of Business Administration in
Manufacturing and Services from International American University in April
2019. In the same year, he is elevated as the honorary life chairman of Hong
Kong Bus Suppliers Association. Dr. Ng has extensive experience in the
manufacturing of motor vehicles. He is now the managing director of a bus
manufacturer.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. See Tak Wah

Mr. See Tak Wah (“Mr. See”), aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 27 January 2017. He is the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the internal control committee of
the Company. Mr. See graduated from the Management School of Waikato
University in New Zealand with first class honours in Bachelor of Management
Studies. He is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Australia
and New Zealand, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
Mr. See has over 34 years of experience in financial and general management
as he previously worked as the regional business controller of Nokia Mobile
Phones Asia Pacific, the managing director of Nokia Mobile Phones Hong
Kong, the chief operating officer of First Mobile Group Holdings Limited,
and held key management positions in the North Asia offices of Philips and
Siemens. Mr. See has been an independent non-executive director and the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of the nomination committee
of Unisplendour Technology (Holdings) Limited (formerly known as Sun East
Technology (Holdings) Limited) (Stock Code: 0365) in 2004 to 2016. From
January 2010 to September 2019, Mr. See was appointed as an independent
non-executive director and chairman of audit committee of Chu Kong
Petroleum and Natural Gas Steel Pipe Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 01938).

Mr. See currently runs his own boutique management consultancy practice
focusing on business strategies formulation and transformation consultation. In
addition, he is currently an independent non-executive director and chairman
of the audit committee and a member of the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee of Lever Style Corporation (Stock Code: 01346);
served as an independent non-executive director, chairman of the audit
committee, a member of the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee of Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
01102).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAEBRFN

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhong Dong Feng

Mr. Zhong Dong Feng (“Mr. Zhong”), aged 52, has been employed as the
deputy chief executive officer of the Group since May 2018, and is fully
responsible for operations of the Property and Cultural Business. Mr. Zhong
graduated from the Jiangxi University of Science and Technology (formerly
known as Southern Institute of Metallurgy) in July 1991, and has professional
qualification of Project Cost Management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Zhong had served as the head of different departments of Jiangxi Provincial
Government. He has over 29 years of experience in provincial development
and operations management.

Mr. Chan Wei

Mr. Chan Wei (“Mr. Chan”), aged 42, is the chief financial officer and company
secretary of the Company since 7 March 2016. Mr. Chan resigned as an
independent non-executive Director and ceased to act as a member of the
audit committee, the nomination committee and the remuneration committee
of Elegance Optical International Holdings Limited (Stock code: 0907) on
17 April 2018. Before joining the Company, he worked in a listed company
as financial controller. Mr. Chan is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of Associate of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Mr. Chan obtained the degree of a Bachelor of Science
in applied accounting from the Oxford Brookes University. He has over 18
years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial advisory.

LITHIUM ION MOTIVE BATTERY BUSINESS

Mr. Yang Chaohui

Mr. Yang Chaohui (“Mr. Yang”), aged 47, has been employed as the financial
controller of a subsidiary of the Group since August 2019, and is responsible
for the financial management and accounting function of the Lithium lon
Motive Battery Business. Mr. Yang is a Certified Public Accountant in the
PRC. He graduated from the Central University of Finance and Economics
with a bachelor’s degree in Public Finance, and has over 24 years of working
experience in accounting and financial management.

Mr. Chern Guey Lin

Mr. Chern Guey Lin (“Mr. Chern”), aged 64, has been the general production
manager of a subsidiary of the Group from March 2018 to December 2020,
and is responsible for the management of production of the Lithium lon Motive
Battery Business at the phase Il production base in Weinan, Shaanxi. Mr.
Chern graduated from the National Taipei University of Technology with a
bachelor’s degree in Department of Electrical Engineering. Mr. Chern has over
40 years of working experience in system integration between electric vehicles
and battery packs; and production, technology and operation management of
lithium-ion battery automated production lines.

/] 6 Tesson Holdings Limited

BREEAR

ERELE

BRESE(EELEE]) 525 RZZ—/\FH
ARBEARLEZ ST  2HAaEMERUL
B2 EE o EAEER—NN—FEAREENT

PETAZ(MBARTE2Sk) AATIRE
BEREXER - EMAREE A - EXEEE

EIREBNZESMEEREA - RREM%
MBS BT HREE29F LR -

BRAESZE
BROESTAE(TREE]) 4252 B-Z—XRF=A
T EEARRAPBRE R ARME - RELRN

:%—)\iﬂlﬁ—f—tﬁréﬂ{%%ﬁ%%ﬁ%%ﬁ

FRAB(IRMMRSE : 0907) 2 BIUIFFAITESE -
Y TABEEEESEZES REZESLRFMZ
B@ZKE - MAKRRRZH > HEEBR—HE
EHRE - HEMBRE - REESEE ST

NEGE NEEBFARSHMATEFEE -
PREERSF EMBERTASERSHEELTE

7 - WREZ - Gt R BEER T EREA185F

w5 -
EE TR HEMER

BEEEE

BEBEE(BEE]) 475 R-T—NF

NAXEAXEEETNBARZHIEHEE - 8
BEEE T N EMEBMIEEIR Rt ReE o
BAEERTEHEFMESEE - FEERPRILAKR
B BFEARPBBLEN  RREHTEPBHBE
IR T I8 H24F T1EREE o

BREEMSEE

REMELE(TBREE]D - 6458 - R-FT—/\F=
AE_Z T+ - AEEASEETHERS
ZEERKE  BREERERTFHHIELERR
PREDERMAERE — MNAEETE - REENE
VEILREASERTIRREX - REERE
BEREBHERRES - MERTESLASALE
REVEE - RITREEEETERERI0FTIE

Annual Report 2020



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhao Qi Rong

Mr. Zhao Qi Rong (“Mr. Zhao”), aged 45, has been the vice president
of a subsidiary of the Group from May 2017 to September 2020, and is
responsible for managing the operation of the Lithium lon Motive Battery
Business in Nanjing Research Institute. Mr. Zhao graduated from the Tianjin
University of Technology with a bachelor’s degree in Chemical Engineering
and Technology. He has over 18 years of working experience in the design
and production of lithium batteries.

Mr. Niu Wen Tao

Mr. Niu Wen Tao (“Mr. Niu”), aged 36, has been employed as the deputy
general manager of a subsidiary of the Group since April 2016, and is
responsible for product design, development and technical management
of battery packs, and construction planning of the battery production line
and plant. Mr. Niu holds a college degree in Applied Electronic Technology
from Tianjin Modern Vocational Technology College. He has over 13 years of
working experience in design and development of battery pack products.

PROPERTY AND CULTURAL BUSINESS

Ms. Cheng Li Zhen

Ms. Cheng Li Zhen (“Ms. Cheng"), aged 48, has been employed as the
financial controller of a subsidiary of the Group since May 2018, and is fully
responsible for the financial management, accounting and treasury functions
of the Property and Cultural Business. Ms. Cheng graduated from the Bangor
University, United Kingdom with a master’s degree in Business Administration
in 2015 and a bachelor degree of Accounting from the School of Economics
and Trades, Jiangxi Agricultural University in 1995. She has over 18 years of
experience in accounting and financial management.

Mr. Yang Ai Ping

Mr. Yang Ai Ping (“Mr. Yang”), aged 48, has been employed as the deputy
general manager of a subsidiary of the Group since November 2018, and
is responsible for management and operation of the Property and Cultural
Business. Mr. Yang graduated from the Suzhou Institute of Environmental
Protection for Urban Construction* (&3 12 3% 3R IF(R#E E2PT) which was
merged with Suzhou Railway Teachers College* (%#/1/$33& ET 5 £ 5) and
became Suzhou University of Science and Technology, and has obtained
professional qualification of Industrial and Civil Buildings in 1994. He has over
20 years of experience in project management.

—2-2EH

EENEREEAEBTN

RREREE(THEE]) 465k W_T—+tFHh
AE_Z-ZFNAREAEEETHBERRZ
FHEkR  AEERERTINEMEHNE
AT EETIF - HTERXNKEETK
2 BECEIRETESTEN - RAFAIS
FREMHORT MAEETHOLS -

IR EE

HOBRE(TBEE]D) - 3658 R _F—RFMO
AXBAASEETHBARZAIRKLE 88
BHEMR R - FAEMRMER - REBE
FEREBERRERE - #AEFHERERR
BERMBREAEFRINNOAZERE - RESF
BI3FEMHEMRAFAERER -

MRR XL EH

BEY It

BEZPLL((BZE]) 48m RN_F—/\F1h
AXBAAREE T B AR <M BRE - =5
BEMERUEEBZMBHER - @t REBH)
BE - BREIM T AFEENEELRAE -
BEIRMSEETEMN YR AN FFEEST
PEREABKEER 2L - RNES

N AT E IR )T MBI 8 4By

BEFEE(BEE]) 485 RZE—N\F
T —AXBEAREEETWEB AR FREE
BEMERXILEBCERBREE - H5EER
— NN FEZEREFMNR M ERZIRIBREZR
(EERMN B E S & 0 - KN AFMBHE KR
B) WESTHXHERAREEFEER - FRIE
BERA HES20F &5 -

REZRERAT |/



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHREE

The Board is pleased to present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Bermuda, and
its principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room 401A, Empire Centre, 68
Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in Lithium lon Motive Battery Business and
Property and Cultural Business during the year.

The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements. Further discussion and analysis of these
activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of The Laws of Hong Kong), can be found in the Management Discussion and
Analysis set out on pages 7 to 12 of this Annual Report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are
set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS

Details of the charges on the Group’s assets are set out in Note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENTS

Details of the commitments of the Group are set out in Note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s issued share capital is
HK$119,648,570 and the total number of its issued ordinary shares is
1,196,485,700 shares of HK$0.10 each.

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in Note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out on page 52 of this Annual Report and Note 32 to the
consolidated financial statement. The Company had no distributable reserves
as at 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Tin Kong (Chairman)
Ms. Cheng Hung Mui
Mr. Chen Dekun

Mr. Sheng Siguang

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Ng Ka Wing

Mr. See Tak Wah

Mr. Wang Jinlin

By virtue of bye-law 87 of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Sheng Siguang,
Mr. Chen Dekun and Dr. Ng Ka Wing shall retire by rotation and being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensations).

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Ms. Cheng Hung Mui, Mr. Chen Dekun and Mr. Tin Kong, each an
executive Director, entered into a service agreement with the Company for
a term of 2 years commencing from 27 June 2014, 25 June 2015 and 27
August 2015, respectively.

Mr. Wang Jinlin, an independent non-executive Director, has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a term of 2 years commencing from
24 March 2015.

Mr. Sheng Siguang, an executive Director, and Dr. Ng Ka Wing and Mr.
See Tak Wah, both of which are independent non-executive Directors,
were appointed on 8 March 2016, 8 March 2016 and 27 January 2017,
respectively, without service agreement and specific term.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHREE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2020, according to the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and, so far as is known to the Directors,
the persons or entities who had an interest or a short position in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company (the “Shares”) which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO or who were, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company, or of any other company
which is a member of the Group, or in any options in respect of such share
capital are as follows:
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ATSREBRHNT

Long positions sy
Number of Percentage of the
issued ordinary total issued
Name of substantial Shares held/ share capital
Shareholder Note Capacity underlying Shares of the Company
FFERITEER HADRERT
TERRHE BB i -¢) HEERG A RABEzADL
Cheng Hung Mui 7 Interest of controlled corporation 775,894,533 64.85%
BT 1 Rt AR 2
Double Key International Limited 1 Beneficial owner 775,894,533 64.85%
BEEEBRAR] BB A
Note i3
1 The entire issued share capital of Double Key International Limited is wholly 1 BRBRERAT ZEHMEETRABNTES

owned by Ms. Cheng Hung Mui, an executive Director. Therefore, Ms. Cheng
Hung Mui is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Double Key
International Limited pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Company has not
been notified by any persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of
the Company, whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short position in the shares and underlying shares”
below), who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company which would fall to be disclosable to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO.

20 Tesson Holdings Limited

BABLT2EREE - At RIBEESFRPE K
{5 BATH 22 LR RN BR B R A B ATR:
Biph A R o

BEXHBREEIN  RZE_TF+_A=+—
B SEEUAL(MEEARAEEREET
BABR » BREZERFIINTXEERERT
BA BRI MARR IR 2 e SR A | —8) A
EARE - ERARBRMDSARBED HHEAR
BRES N B RHIFXVER 2 R F370 #R IR X AR
ARAFEE L EEIAR - IIREESF R BB K
PIFIB6IHMREAR R B AN EF 2 B LM AR
ZRERTAR

Annual Report 2020



DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which the Directors and chief
executive were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded
in the register therein, or were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
the directors of Company as set out in Appendix 10 to (the “Model Code”)
the Rules of Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the issued Shares

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHREE

EERETBRTHRASARS - HER
DRESFZERERAR

RZEZZEF+-A=+—8 ARAREERE
BITRABRA NG ST MR LB (TRR
BHREEGROIEXVER) 2 &5 - HEERD RE
Hrh AT TRIE B A5 RS IEH BEXVIBET
SHEBAME RN B MR 2 R AR (B
REFFRAERIEBEXESREZITHRA
BWSE AN WEEREE CBERAR) « HIRIE
FHRAIE GO F 352G BN ZIG X itz
BTz ESRAR  RAREBIHES LT
AN ERRADWEE+ s 2 AR R ER#ETT
BAHR G ZZESTR([ZESFH BNEGARR
MR 2 RS MR B T ¢

(i) REBITROZHE

Percentage of

Number of the total issued
Capacity or issued ordinary share capital
Name of Director Note nature of interests Shares held of the Company
e 81T HARARE BT
BEEgE W SHEEENE ZRRHE RAEE B DL
Cheng Hung Mui 1 Interest of controlled corporation 775,894,533 64.85%
AT REHDERE 2 #E s
Sheng Siguang 2 Interest of spouse 13,994,253 1.17%
RE A [T
Note KiaE
1 The entire issued share capital of Double Key International Limited is wholly 1 BEEBERARA R E2EE FITRAHH

owned by Ms. Cheng Hung Mui, an executive Director. Therefore, Ms.
Cheng Hung Mui is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Double
Key International Limited pursuant to the SFO.

2 Mr. Sheng Siguang, an executive Director of the Company, is the spouse
of Ms. Wang Jin who is interested in 13,994,253 Shares. Mr. Sheng
Siguang is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Ms. Wang
Jin is interested in by virtue of the SFO.
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(i)

(iii)

Long positions in the underlying Shares

Name of Director or Capacity or
chief executive Note nature of interests

ESYFETHABHRS Mz Bt SEmtE

(i) HEERO2ZHFE

Percentage of

the existing

Number of total issued
underlying share capital of
Shares held the Company
HARARREEE

FSERROEE ERITREAZEIH

Tin Kong 1 Beneficial owner

A 8 EnEEA

Chen Dekun 1 Beneficial owner

PR 122 3 BE=HAA

Chan Wei 1 Beneficial owner

PR EnEEA

Note

1 These Shares represent the underlying interest of the share options granted

to the relevant Directors and chief executives of the Company under the
share option scheme adopted by the Company on 13 June 2012. Please
refer to the section “Equity-linked agreements — Share Option Scheme”
below for further details.

Long positions in the shares of the associated corporations

2,000,000 0.17%
1,000,000 0.08%
2,000,000 0.17%

Hrst

1 ZERMIERBEARTNR T ——F/XA
T=ARMZERETERAAREEE
EREBITHRABE LM BEARE 2 180 E
o S HBELH T X R
= MEARERT & & -

(i) REEEIERGOZFE

Percentage
of interest in

Name of Number of the associated

Name of Director Nature of interests associated corporation Shares held corporation

I AREEE R

EERE REmitE R EE S8 RO A ZEDH

Cheng Hung Mui Corporate interest Double Key International Limited 100 100%
AT EE R EEBERER AR

Apart from the foregoing, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed
to have any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii)
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) are otherwise required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Share Option Scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted pursuant
to the special general meeting of the Company held on 13 June 2012 for
the primary purpose of providing incentives to selected participants for
their contribution to the Group, and will expire on 12 June 2022. Under the
Scheme, the Board may grant options to all Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) and any fulltime/part time employees of the Group,
and any participants from time to time determined by the Board as having
contributed or may contribute to the development and growth of the Group to
subscribe for shares in the Company.

In each grant of options, the Board may at its discretion determine the specific
exercise period and exercise price. The exercise price shall not be less than
the highest of (i) the closing price of Shares on the Stock Exchange on the
date of the offer of grant; (i) the average closing price of Shares on the Stock
Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer
of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares. A consideration of HK$1.0 is
payable by grantees on acceptance of the offer of the grant of an option.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the total number of Shares available for
issue under the Scheme was 103,631,570 Shares which represented 8.7%
of the total number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue. The number
of shares in respect of which options may be granted to any individual is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the
time being.

From the date of adoption of the Scheme and up to 31 December 2020,
a total of 24,300,000 share options to subscribe for a total of 24,300,000
Shares were granted by the Company under the Scheme, among which
9,800,000 share options have lapsed. As at 31 December 2020, there were
total of 14,500,000 outstanding options, carrying rights to subscribe for
14,500,000 shares.
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Details of the movements of the share options granted under the Scheme as WN=—ZE-ZF+=-A=+—0 ' BEZ2ELY

at 31 December 2020 are as follows: m%hrm FIBT
Number of Share Options
fEEEE
Closing Price Outstanding
of the Shares ~ Outstanding  Granted and Cancelled/ options
Exercise  immediately options as at accepted Exercised Lapsed as at
Name of director/ Priceper  before the 1 January during during during 31 December
employee Date of Grant Exercisable period Share  date of grant 2020 the year the year the year 2020
RZB-%E k- 2
SERL -A-H tZh=1-H
BEEN  EROEZ Fhg e HAfTHEZ
E3/EE%H RiAE 8 BRORE  ROWHE BRE REREG  EREGR  EB/&N e
HKS HK$
A AT
Director
£
Tin Kong / 1/2016 T1/11/2017 0 10/11/2021 0.85 0.8 600,000 - - - 600,000
mi “F-7Et+-A1-H ;_t¢$ Bt-B%
-3z ¢+ ATH
11172016 / 17201810 10/11/2021 0.8 085 600,000 - - - 600,000
“E- ME% ﬂ+*ﬁ Ai% H* =
:T:—¢+ A+H
1/11/2016 11/111/2019 0 10/11/2021 0.85 0.8 800,000 - - - 800,000
“EF-7Et-A1-H _%_HE$ Bt-B%
B -E1-A1A
Chen Dekun 1/11/2016 11172017 to 10/11/2021 0.85 0.85 300,000 - = = 300,000
R ZFRNEt-At-B  ZEtFt-At-BE
Z2=-F1-A1H
/ 1/2016 11111/2018 t0 10/11/2021 085 0.85 300,000 - - - 300,000
°F A¢+ H+ = :K_Aﬁf_ﬂ+_5§
S e
11/11/2016 11/11/2019 t0 10/11/2021 085 0.85 400,000 - = = 400,000
“EF—E+-B1+-H “E-NET-AT-RE
Z2--F1-A1A
Sub-total: 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000
1Nt
Senior Management 11/11/2016 11/11/2017 t0 10/11/2021 085 0.8 3,690,000 - - (240,000) 3,450,000
(in aggregate) ZE-NET-AT-H ‘ﬁi—tﬁ' Bt-HB%
BREEAR _EC ¢+ A+H
(#31) 11/11/2016 / 112018 10 10/11/2021 085 0.85 3,690,000 - - (240,000) 3,450,000
—%- /\ﬁf )EH’ A )\EJF H+ HE
_2_*¢+ A+H
11/11/2016 11/11/2019 0 10/11/2021 085 0.85 4,920,000 - - (320,000) 4,600,000
2B RET-AT-A :E—H¢+—H+—E§
ZF--F1-AtH
Sub-total 12,300,000 - - (800,000) 11,500,000
It
Total: 15,300,000 - - (800,000) 14,500,000
it
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CHANGES OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes of Directors’
information are set out below.

Mr. See Tak Wah was appointed as an independent non-executive director,
chairman of the audit committee, a member of the remuneration committee
and the nomination committee of Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 01102) on 10 August 2020.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, there were no changes of
Directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors had any interests in competing business
of the Company which was required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in this Directors’ report and Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements in relation to the Scheme, at no time during the year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable any Directors (including their spouses or children under 18 years of
age) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

As at the end of the year ended 31 December 2020 or at any time during
the year, (a) there was no contract of significance between the Company or
any of its subsidiary companies, and a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries; and (b) there was no contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

As at the end of the year ended 31 December 2020 or at any time during
the year, there was no contract of significance in relation to the Company’s
business, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party,
subsisted, and in which a Director had, whether directly or indirectly, a material
interest.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Ng Ka Wing, Mr. See Tak Wah and Mr. Wang Jinlin, the
annual confirmation of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, less than 30% of the Group’s
revenue from sales of goods or rendering of services was attributable to the
Group'’s five largest customers.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, approximately 74% of the Group’s
purchases were attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers. In particular,
purchases from the largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately
35% of the Group’s total purchase for the year.

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors nor any of their
associates nor any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interests in any of the Group’s five largest customers or five largest
suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2020.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws, or
the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements. These related party transactions (i) did not constitute
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions or, (i) constituted
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions but were exempted
from all disclosure and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations and business would
be affected by numerous risks and uncertainties including market risk,
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme is shown in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

Employees

The Group considers employees as the key to success and continues to
implement people-oriented policy in human resources management, including
the offer of appropriate training programs, performance linked discretionary
bonus, and implement a sound and complete performance appraisal system
to promote career advancement and opportunity of the staff.

Customers and Suppliers
The Group maintained sound relationships with its customers and suppliers,

and also committed to provide excellent products with outstanding services to
our customers in order to build up and maintain sustainable relationships.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, as far as the Company is aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

In accordance with bye-law 166 of the bye-laws of the Company, the
Directors and other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any
of them, their or any of their heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices
or trusts, provided that any such persons has not committed any fraud or
dishonesty.

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors was in force
as of the date of this report and during the financial year ended 31 December
2020. The Company has maintained directors and officers liability insurance
for the directors of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors of the Company, the Company has maintained
a sufficient public float as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
(“ESG”) SUMMARY

The Group is committed to conducting our business in an environmentally
sound manner and has adopted the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide as required by the Listing Rules. The Board will continue
to monitor such policies to ensure the Company remains compliant with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company
in relation to the environment, employment, labor and operation. In addition to
carrying out the corporate-wide programs the Company has initiated, all of our
employees are required to be familiar with environmental laws and regulations
relevant to their employment responsibilities and to comply with them. Details
of the above information will be set out in our ESG report which is scheduled
to be published within 3 months after the issuance of this Annual Report.
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DIVIDENDS BRE

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year E & & T s [LEH%ZI —EEFZA=1—

ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil). HIEFE 2 HIRE(Z ﬂ¢ ) o

SUBSIDIARIES L= NG

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020 are $ RIEZZF+_A=T—HZXZME

set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements. Tail BNRE TEER B T4 ©

AUDITOR 3]

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 AEEHE—_Z-_ZTE+_-_A=+—HIFE2
December 2020 was audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited. ZHONGHUI 48 &BEE DR ELES MBS ERA

ANDA CPA Limited will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and &%t - REZESTEISHAER A TERE
a resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the Company will be  ERFEEAS FHEF  NEBKRFEAFEAS

proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting. BIREEEEFZREE SRR RIZEMAAE
% o
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles
(the “Principles”) and code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in
the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG
Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Company and the Directors strive to follow the internal control manuals
and put in place sufficient resources to comply with the CG Code. During the
year ended 31 December 2020, save for the deviations disclosed below, the
Company had complied with all the applicable provisions set out in the CG
Code:

According to the Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Dr.
Ng Ka Wing and Mr. See Tak Wah were appointed as independent non-
executive Director and have not been appointed for a specific term but will
be subject to retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election pursuant to the
bye-laws of the Company.

Pursuant to the Code Provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, independent non-
executive Directors and non-executive Directors should attend general
meetings of the Company. However, one independent non-executive Director
was absent from the annual general meeting of the Company held on 31
August 2020 due to other business commitments. To ensure compliance
with the CG Code in the future, the Company has arranged and will continue
to arrange to furnish all Directors with appropriate information on all general
meetings of the Company and take all reasonable measures to schedule
meetings in such a way that all Directors can attend the general meetings.

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Mr. Tin Kong has been serving as the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company (the “CEQ”) following the resignation of Mr.
Sheng Siguang as the CEO which was effective from 1 August 2019. Such
practice deviates from Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Board
considers that consolidation of these roles by Mr. Tin Kong provides strong
and consistent leadership to the Company which facilitates effective planning
and efficient management of the Company. The Board will keep reviewing this
arrangement from time to time and should candidate with suitable knowledge,
skill and experience be identified, the Company will make an appointment to fill
the post as appropriate.

The Board will continue to review and improve the corporate governance
practices and standards of the Company to ensure the business activities and
decision making processes of the Company are regulated in a proper and
prudent manner.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules for securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company reported that the
Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2020. The Model
Code also applies to other specified senior management of the Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises:
Executive Directors: Mr. Tin Kong (Chairman)
Ms. Cheng Hung Mui
Mr. Chen Dekun

Mr. Sheng Siguang
Independent Non-executive Directors: Dr. Ng Ka Wing
Mr. See Tak Wah
Mr. Wang Jinlin

The Board comprises of four executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. One of the independent non-executive Directors
possesses appropriate professional accounting qualifications and financial
management expertise. Biographical details of the directors are set out in
the section of “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 13 to 17 of this Annual Report.

The relationships among the members of the Board are disclosed under
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 13 to
17. Save as disclosed under “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management”, the Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. The formation of the Board has
met Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules for the Board to have at least one-third in
number of its members comprising independent non-executive Directors.

The main focus of the Board is on the formulation of overall strategies and
policies of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial performance
and the internal controls of the Group’s business operations. Execution of
operational matters and the powers thereof are delegated to the management
by way of clear direction and remit from the Board.
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The independent non-executive Directors are from professional background
with a broad range of expertise and experience in the fields of accounting,
finance, legal and business. Their skills and expertise ensure strong
independent views and judgment in the Board. They also serve important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective corporate
governance framework. The Board considers that each independent non-
executive Director is independent in character and judgment and that they all
meet the independence criteria as set out under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

All directors are regularly updated on governance and regulatory matters.
There is an established procedure for directors to obtain independent
professional advice at the expense of the Company in the furtherance of their
duties. The Company has also arranged appropriate director and officer liability
insurance cover in respect of any potential legal actions that might be taken
against its directors.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development Programme
The Directors have undergone satisfactory training throughout the year and

provided the training record to the Company. During the year ended 31
December 2020, the training records of the Directors are set out below:

ok

BIUFNTESHABERES  Neit ¥
B EARMEETEAEERRELREELR
WEZRELERANBAAESSRHEARE L
M2 BARAE - BUFRATEFZ A RER
AIRERTERCREARBIAMEF &
FERRBEYIFNTESHAB IR LA
7 > WAZEAE EMARREIAMGRME 2
SLAGRF ©
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EREFROTHESEREALEESEZEM
Bl - ERAREHEERRF  SRBUFXESR
B EITERE - BRERBARRANE - &
RAEHBEFT CBEERTY  THEECE
EMITBRABREERRE

EEIIRERBRTE

FR - BEFEETSTARBZEI - LRAAXAQF]
REFIEE - REE-FT_FTF+_A=1—
BIEFE  EFZ7HJEEHIIMT

Corporate Governance/update
on laws, rules and regulations
EER R RARKRHZEH
Attend Seminars,

Read Briefings and
Materials Conferences
HEMRE
Directors BE BB R BHRERER
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Tin Kong (Chairman) B4 (EE) v v
Ms. Cheng Hung Mui AT 22+ v v
Mr. Chen Dekun PRiZEM A A v v
Mr. Sheng Siguang BRI ITE v v
Independent Non-executive Directors BT IENTTEE
Dr. Ng Ka Wing RERIET v v
Mr. See Tak Wah MEfREE S A v v
Mr. Wang Jinlin FeMEE v v
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Directors’ Attendance at the Board Meetings and General
Meetings

The individual attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings
(not including other ad hoc meetings of the Board held from time to time),
certain committee meetings and general meetings during the year ended 31
December 2020 is set out below:

eSO

ESHFESETRERBRRAERER

BEENEE_Z_TF+_A=T—HL=FE
HFREEgeR(TERBREMTREITHNNEN
EEXgeH) A TZE2ga BERRENE

}E'leuEﬁﬁ’Z%W\J;zuT :

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE/BIEEAR
Internal
Audit  Nomination Remuneration Control
Committee =~ Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee Board General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meeting Meetings Meetings
BENZEE REZEE FMZEE RKPEERZRE
Directors EE &3 = e 2gE ETefE N
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Tin Kong isEibite NATER 1/1 1/1 1/1 4/4 11
Ms. Cheng Hung Mui ALY N/ATE A N/ATE A N/ATNER N/ATNE A 0/4 0N
Mr. Chen Dekun BREmEE N/ATNER NATER NATER NATER 1/4 0
Mr. Sheng Siguang BRE S N/ATER N/ATEA N/ATNEF N/ATEA 1/4 0/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHATEE
Dr. Ng Ka Wing RERFEL 1/2 01 0 0 4/4 VAl
Mr. See Tak Wah mEELE 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1 4/4 1/1
Mr. Wang Jiniin FemEs 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1 4/4 1/1
DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE EERITHRABZRE
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential ~ ANRAFE B E R RITHRA B 2 BIEARITEIZ

legal actions against its Directors and officers.
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
CEO should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

The roles of Chairman are to provide leadership to the Board and responsible
for the effective functioning and ensuring that directors receive adequate,
reliable and complete information in timely manner. The Chairman assumes
the primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established.

The CEOQ is responsible for administering and managing the Group’s business

and internal controls, including the implementation of major strategies and
initiatives decreed and delegated by the Board.

—2-2EH

ARHHRIR -
EIRRITRAR

RBOEERTAZTARIEA21E - £F
NITHREH 2 ABRTED - X HRHR— AR
£

ITRZBEAFEESERARHEAREE I
RESA REERMEH AR TEER -
ITRETEABRRREYRFNOEERERLE
r?o

TREHBERITREEARE 2 B R ARRE
o BREREESERMRRIRZ TR R

=
—
AR °

REEZERERDE

33



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AN T
TEERRE

During the year ended 31 December 2020, Mr. Tin Kong has been serving as
the chairman and the CEO of the Company following the resignation of Mr.
Sheng Siguang as the CEO which was effective from 1 August 2019. In view
of current development of the Group, the Board believes that it is in the best
interest of the Group to have Mr. Tin Kong taking up both roles for effective
execution of business strategies and management of business operations.
The Board will keep reviewing this arrangement from time to time and should
candidate with suitable knowledge, skill and experience be identified, the
Company will make an appointment to fill the post of CEO as appropriate.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board has established four
committees, namely, the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the internal control
committee (the “Internal Control Committee”), for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of
the Board committees are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon request.

Each Board committee consists of a majority of independent non-executive
Directors (“INED”). The list of the chairman and members of each Board
committee as at the date of this Annual Report is set out below:

Audit Committee

Mr. See Tak Wah (Chairman) (INED)
Dr. Ng Ka Wing (INED)
Mr. Wang Jinlin (INED)

Internal Control Committee

Mr. Tin Kong (Chairman) (executive Director)
Dr. Ng Ka Wing (INED)

Mr. See Tak Wah (INED)

Mr. Wang Jinlin (INED)

Nomination Committee

Mr. Tin Kong (Chairman) (executive Director)
Dr. Ng Ka Wing (INED)

Mr. See Tak Wah (INED)

Mr. Wang Jinlin (INED)

Remuneration Committee

Dr. Ng Ka Wing (Chairman) (INED)
Mr. Tin Kong (executive Director)
Mr. See Tak Wah (INED)

Mr. Wang Jinlin (INED)
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The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

Pursuant to Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, every listed issuer is required
to have at least three INEDs, at least one of whom must have appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Besides, according to Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, every listed
issuer must establish an audit committee comprising non-executive directors
only. The audit committee must comprise a minimum of three members, at
least one of whom is an independent non-executive director with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2). Throughout the year, the Board at all
times fully complied with Rules 3.21 and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The majority of the audit committee members must be independent non-
executive directors of the listed issuer. The audit committee must be chaired
by an independent non-executive director. The Audit Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors. Written terms of
reference, which describe the authority and duties of the Audit Committee,
have been adopted and posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange, and are regularly reviewed and updated by the Board.

As at the reporting date, the Audit Committee comprised three members, all
the independent non-executive Directors namely, Dr. Ng Ka Wing, Mr. See
Tak Wah and Mr. Wang Jinlin as members. The chairman of Audit Committee is
Mr. See Tak Wah who possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. None of the members
of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing external
auditor. The Audit Committee has separate and independent access to the
advice and services of the senior management of the Company, and is able
to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense upon
reasonable request.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@ To review the consolidated financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s
staff responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or external auditors before submission to the Board.

(b) To review the relationship with the external auditors with reference
to the work performed by the external auditors, their fees and terms
of engagement, and make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditors.

(c) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial

reporting system, internal control system and risk management system
and associated procedures.
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During the year, the Audit Committee has, inter alia, reviewed the accounting
standards and practices adopted by the Group and discussed with the
management about the internal control and financial reporting matters,
including reviewing the annual financial information for the year ended 31
December 2019 and the interim financial information for the six months ended
30 June 2020.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, who is of
opinion that such statements comply with applicable accounting standards
and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been made.

INTERNAL CONTROL COMMITTEE

The Internal Control Committee comprises four members, namely, Mr. Tin
Kong who is the Chairman and executive Director, and Dr. Ng Ka Wing,
Mr. See Tak Wah and Mr. Wang Jinlin who are independent non-executive
Directors. The Internal Control Committee is chaired by Mr. Tin Kong. The
Internal Control Committee was established to enhance risk management and
internal control systems in a timely manner. The Internal Control Committee
is responsible for performing independent review of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems. The Internal
Control Committee examines key issues in relation to the accounting practices
and all material controls; evaluate and determine the nature and extent of the
risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives; and
provides the effectiveness of its implementation and recommendations for
improvement to the Audit Committee and the Board.

During the year, the Company organizes personnel and seeks assistance from
external professional advisory institutions to review the risk management and
internal control systems which are subject to the review by the Company’s
management team and the Internal Control Committee and approval by the
Audit Committee and the Board.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

According to the code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code, issuers should establish
a nomination committee which is chaired by the chairman of the board or an
independent non-executive director and comprises a majority of independent
non-executive directors.

The Company has set up a Nomination Committee with its written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules to ensure fair and transparent procedures for appointment, re-
election and removal of Directors to the Board. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors and one
executive Director, and was chaired by an executive Director who is the
Chairman of the Board.
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The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board on a regular basis and make recommendations to
the Board regarding any proposed changes; identifying individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships;
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors; making
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Nomination Committee has
reviewed the existing structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board
to ensure it has a balance of expertise, skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements the Group’s business; reviewed
and assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and
assessed the board diversity policy of the Company (the “Board Diversity
Policy”).

The Nomination Committee formulated Board Diversity Policy. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance. In designing the Board’s composition, the
Nomination Committee will consider a number of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will continue to review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness and discuss any revisions that may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration
and approval.

The Nomination Committee also monitors the implementation of the

Board Diversity Policy and reports to the Board on the achievement of the
measurable objectives for achieving diversity under the Board Diversity Policy.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Remuneration Policy for Directors and Senior Management

The remuneration payable to the employees includes salaries and allowances.
The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated based on the performance
of individual employees and are reviewed regularly. Subject to the Group’s
profitability, the Group may also provide a discretionary bonus to employees
as an incentive for their contribution to the Group. The primary goal of
the remuneration policy with regard to the remuneration packages of the
executive Directors is to enable the Group to retain and motivate the executive
Directors by linking their compensation with performance as measured against
corporate objectives achieved. Each of the executive Directors is entitled to
the remuneration packages including basic salaries and discretionary bonuses.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all
Directors’ and senior management remuneration, make recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors and determine, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management.

The Company believes that by offering the eligible persons a shareholding
stake in the Company, the interests of the eligible persons and the Company
will align and thereby provide the eligible persons with additional incentives to
improve the Company’s performance.

According to the Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, an issuer must establish a
remuneration committee chaired by an independent non-executive director
and comprising a majority of independent non-executive directors, and
according to the Rule 3.26 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
must approve and provide written terms of reference for the remuneration
committee which clearly establish its authority and duties.

The Company has set up a Remuneration Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules to ensure that there are formal and transparent procedures for
setting policies on the remuneration of Directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors and one executive Director, and was chaired by an
independent non-executive Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Remuneration Committee has
reviewed and discussed the remuneration and structure of the Directors and
senior management of the Company.

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management by band for the year ended 31 December
2020 is set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Wei, the company secretary of the Company, is a full-time employee
of the Company. He supports the Board by ensuring information flow within
the Board and that the Board policy and procedures are followed. The
company secretary is responsible for advising the Board on the corporate
governance matters and professional development of the Directors.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the company
secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for the systems of internal control and
risk management of the Company and for reviewing their effectiveness on a
regular basis, covering financial, operational, compliance controls and risk
management functions.

The Board is committed to design and implement effective and sound
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests
of Shareholders and the Group’s assets. The systems are implemented
to manage and minimize, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure in
operation systems, and to provide reasonable assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Board has delegated to executive management the
implementation of the systems of risk management and internal controls and
reviewing of all relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and risk
management function within an established framework. Our risk management
and internal control systems are reviewed and renewed at least on an annual
basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, Apec Risk Management Limited, an
external professional advisory institution, has been appointed to undertake
the internal audit function and assist the Internal Control Committee to
review the risk management and internal control systems of the Group. For
risk assessment, the management and functional responsible persons are
required to evaluate the likelihood and impact of each identified risk item in
a risk register. Once significant risks are identified, mitigating measures are
required to put in place immediately in order to manage such risks. For internal
control review, once areas of improvement have been identified, appropriate
measures and follow-up actions are required to be put in place in order to
enhance the internal control system. The Internal Control Committee reviews
the findings and opinion of the management on the effectiveness of the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems, and reports to the
Audit Committee and the Board on such reviews. In respect of the year ended
31 December 2020, the Board considered the risk management and internal
control systems effective and adequate. No significant areas of concern which
might affect Shareholders were identified.
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CEBARE

The Company has put in place the policies and procedures for the handling
and dissemination of inside information. The Company regularly reminds the
Directors and employees for the due compliance with all policies regarding
the inside information and also keeps them for the latest regulatory updates.
Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures the
information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary
degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have
been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the information to the
public.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, price sensitive announcements
and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The auditor’s responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 43 to 47 to this
Annual Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total remuneration of the Group’s
auditor for statutory audit services was approximately HK$1,200,000.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a Special General
Meeting (“SGM”)

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws and the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (“Companies Act”), registered Shareholders holding not less than
one-tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company (“SGM Requisitionists”) can
deposit a written request to convene a SGM at the registered office of the
Company (“Registered Office”), which is presently situated at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The SGM Requisitionists
must state in their request(s) the purposes of the SGM and such request(s)
must be signed by all the SGM Requisitionists and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the SGM
Requisitionists.
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The Share Registrars will verify the SGM Requisitionists’ particulars in the SGM
Requisitionists’ request. Promptly after confirmation from the Share Registrars
that the SGM Requisitionists’ request is in order, the Company Secretary will
arrange with the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice to all
the registered Shareholders in accordance with all the relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements. On the contrary, if the SGM Requisitionists’ request
is verified not in order, the SGM Requisitionists will be advised of the outcome
and accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as requested.

The SGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a SGM if within
twenty-one (21) days of the deposit of the SGM Requisitionists’ request, the
Board does not proceed duly to convene a SGM provided that any SGM so
convened is held within three (8) months from the date of the original SGM
Requisitionists’ request. A SGM so convened by the SGM Requisitionists
shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings are to be convened by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at a
general meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act, either any number of the registered
Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(“Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such registered Shareholders, can
request the Company in writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly
be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to
Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting any statement
of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting. The
requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of several documents
in like form, each signed by one or more of the Requisitionists; and it must be
deposited at the Registered Office with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet
the Company’s relevant expenses, not less than six (6) weeks before the
meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than
one (1) week before the meeting in the case of any other requisition. Provided
that if an AGM is called for a date six (6) weeks or less after the requisition has
been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the time required
shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
in writing through the Company Secretary whose contact details are as
follows:

The Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Wei

Room 401A, Empire Centre,

68 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 3520 3181

Email: info@tessonholdings.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings
of the Company.

Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2020, there was no alteration to the
Company’s constitutional documents.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to enhancing communications and relationships
with its investors. Designated senior management maintains an open
dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to keep them abreast of the
Company’s developments.

The Company also maintains a website at www.tessonholdings.com, where
updates on the Company’s business developments and operations, financial
information and news can always be found.

CODE OF CONDUCT

The Company is committed to high standard of business ethics and integrity. A
code of conduct is enforced on all employees of the Group. The employees at
all levels are expected to act in an honest, diligent and responsible manner. No
personal gifts or other forms of advantages from any person or organisation
doing business with the Group can be accepted by any employee. Business
partners and customers are reminded from time to time that its policy forbids
any employee or agent of the Group from accepting any gift from them.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
RVR R Gl

T o

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TESSON HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tesson Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 48 to 131, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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(i) Properties for sale under development
Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of properties for sale under development
for impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit because
the balance of properties for sale under development of approximately
HK$1,566,127,000 as at 31 December 2020 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment
test involves application of judgement and is based on assumptions and
estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:
- Obtaining and evaluating the impairment assessment;

- Assessing the net realisable values of the properties for sale under
development;

- Discussing with management their calculation by comparing the
costs to, where available, recently transacted prices for similar
properties or the price of comparable properties located in the
vicinity of the development;

- Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuer engaged by client;

= Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with the
external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation process,
methodologies used and market evidence to support significant

judgments and assumptions applied in the valuation model;

- Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation model
to supporting evidence; and

— Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for properties for sale
under development is supported by the available evidence.
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(ii) Amount due from a non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary
Refer to Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Group tested the amount of amount due from a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary for impairment. This impairment test is
significant to our audit because the balance of amount due from
a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary of approximately
of HK$309,383,000 as at 31 December 2020 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment
test involves application of judgement and is based on estimates.
Our audit procedures included, among others:
- Evaluating the impairment assessment;
- Checking subsequent settlements;
- Assessing the relationship and transaction history with the non-
controlling shareholder of a subsidiary;
- Assessing creditworthiness of non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary; and
- Assessing the disclosure of the exposure to amount due in the
consolidated financial statements.
We consider that the Group’s impairment test for amount due from a
non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary is supported by the available
evidence.
(iii) Goodwill
Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Group is required to annually test the amount of goodwill for
impairment. This annual impairment test is significant to our audit because
the balance of goodwill of approximately HK$220,408,000 as at 31
December 2020 is material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group’s impairment test involves application of judgement
and is based on assumptions and estimates.
Our audit procedures included, among others:
- Assessing the identification of the related cash generating units;
- Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use
calculations;
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- Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow projections;

- Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions (including
revenue growth, profit margins, terminal growth rates and discount
rates); and

- Checking input data to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for goodwill is supported by the
available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all the information in the
Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The other information is expected
to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information identified above when it becomes
available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements is located at the HKICPA’s website at:

http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/standards/auditing-
assurance/auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Shun Fai

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P05498
Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEnhHEMEEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —ZF —FF+ A =+—HIFFZ

2020 2019
—ERIERF —h&
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Htaz FETT FET
Revenue s 7 762,891 912,346
Cost of sales SHE RN (461,706) (808,880)
Gross profit EF 301,185 103,466
Interest income FLE WA 271 1,304
Other income Hibug A 8 5,331 12,343
Distribution and selling expenses DI IHER Y (15,309) (14,420)
Administrative expenses THAX (162,930) (174,470)
Fair value (loss)/gain of investment REWEZ N HEER), e
properties (332) 14,648
Impairment losses on trade and FEWE 5 BR A K H A EURBR R 2
other receivables RIEEE (2,291) (18,948)
Profit/(loss) from operations BEER(BE) 125,925 (76,077)
Finance costs B E RN 10 (12,951) (17,036)
Share of loss of joint venture ElhaehEER - (648)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBLADEF (E518) 112,974 (93,761)
Income tax expenses FriSfif s 11 (73,492) (32,001)
Profit/(loss) for the year REERR(&E) 12 39,482 (125,762)
Other comprehensive income/ Hp 2wl (BR)
(expenses)
Items that may be reclassified to HEEEH 7 EEEwm 2 EEH
profit or loss
Exchange differences on translating foreign & /G975 FTEE 4 2~
operations INE 5 i = R 91,433 (56,326)
130,915 (182,088)
Items that will not be reclassified to BTEEN 72 Em 2B
profit or loss
Surplus arising on revaluation of property,  EfL¥E - M= RREES 2 B
plant and equipment - 33,707
Deferred tax effect arising on revaluation of ~ EE42% - BB M RMEE LS 2 IELER
property, plant and equipment TH & - (6,140
Total comprehensive income/ rEEZEKE (X)) @R
(expenses) for the year 130,915 (153,521)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AN
N

SN HMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

2020 2019
—ECEH —E-hEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
k3 FETT FET
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to %I A T FE(L A FE%FI, (EE)
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIETZ SN (25,198) (104,331)
Non-controlling interests IEEAR T 64,680 (21,431)
39,482 (125,762)
Total comprehensive income/ THALTEEREEREmRSE
(expenses) for the year attributable to (B )4 %8
Owners of the Company EIN/NETEZ =N 41,717 (130,194)
Non-controlling interests RIS E RS 89,198 (23,327)
130,915 (153,521)
Loss per share FREE 15
Basic (HK cents per share) AR (EAEN) (2.11) (8.77)
Diluted (HK cents per share) BE (B N) (2.11) (8.77)
—ECEER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e AR R

At 31 December 2020 R-ZE-—ZFF+—-H=+—H

2020 2019
—EBEF —ZE—NF
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
k3 FETT FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE NERE 16 421,476 456,080
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEWE  MEERZRHEZENETS
plant and equipment 3,548 4,917
Investment properties WEWE 18 29,526 38,886
Goodwiill [EES 19 220,408 207,695
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 17 120,910 123,032
Investment in joint venture REELEZERE 10,002 9,425
805,870 840,035
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 20 30,870 36,163
Properties for sale under development KRAPIFEYFE 21 1,566,127 1,579,488
Trade, bills and other receivables, deposits  JEUE 583N - EUREZIE &
and prepayments H IR - 5T& RIEN IR 22 213,691 229,685
Financial assets at fair value through profit & A FEFFABRZ S HEE
or loss 86 134
Amount due from a non-controlling FEUR — FEI BT /B 1A ) AR AR AR BR BR 3k
shareholder of a subsidiary 23 309,383 415,118
Pledged bank deposits EHIRIRITIER 24 - 1,341
Restricted bank deposits ZIR BRI TR 24 52,659 38,159
Bank and cash balances RITMIRES 4 24 15,109 35,389
2,187,925 2,335,477
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade, bills and other payables ERESER  BREER
E A FERTAR R 25 340,541 330,978
Contract liabilities aRaE 26 938,905 1,228,995
Borrowings ==y 27 251,012 263,784
Lease liabilities HEAE 17 5,144 8,417
Tax payable JERT IR 120,969 24,060
Amount due to the Controlling Shareholder &5 A% A% B BR 2 28 68 9,595
1,656,639 1,865,829
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

VAN
A Ny =]

BRSNS AR

At 31 December 2020 R—-ZE-ZTF+—-H=+—H

2020 2019

—ECEF —E-NF

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

it FET FET

Net current assets REEEEE 531,286 469,648

Total assets less current liabilities EEAERTREHEE 1,337,156 1,309,683
Non-current liabilities kFRBEE

Amount due to the Controlling Shareholder i {<H2 B A% B BR 51 28 - 42,900

Convertible bonds AIBARES 29 - 43,893

Lease liabilities HEBaE 17 15,591 18,321

Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBEE 30 81,175 99,293

96,766 204,407

NET ASSETS BEEFE 1,240,390 1,105,276
Capital and reserves EXRFE

Share capital &N 31 119,649 119,649

Reserves i 32 930,329 857,091

Equity attributable to owners of RARIEE A E(GIE

the Company 1,049,978 976,740

Non-controlling interests JEPEAR RS 190,412 128,536

TOTAL EQUITY A 1,240,390 1,105,276

The consolidated financial statements on pages 48 to 131 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2021 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Tin Kong
FH 48
Director

EF

—2-2EH

TIEFHERERE -

Cheng Hung Mui

LIFAR

Director

EFE

FASEEFINAZREVBEEEHRESTERN
—E-—F=-A=+—HAEHLFRENZE I h
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
G L FIE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

Attributable to owners of the Company

LB N
Convertible Share-  Foreign (Accumulated
Capital Asset bond based  currency losses)/ Non-
Share  redemption Share  revaluation equity Other Capital ~ payment translation retained controlling
capital reserve  premium feserve  reserve  reserve reserve  reserve reserve profits Total interests Total
WA
k& TERES BEE  JMEN (RER)/

Ba  EERE ROEE BEEMERE  BERE  RHEE  EARE  ARRE B RELH g FERER 3t
HKS000  HKSOO0  HKBOOO  HKSOO0  HKS000  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKBOOO  HKSUO0  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000
FEr  TEr TR FET TEr TR FET T TR TEn T TEL TEn

At1 January 2019 RZE-NE-F-B 118632 624 822919 6,920 15,983 6,01 (200 6,621 (29.307) 99049 1,047,318 177,087 1,224,406
Total comprehensive income/ KEE2ENN/

(expenses) (Ar)es

forthe year - - - - - - Sy (04%0) (%1% @B (183521)
Deemed purchase of BIEEERER

non-controllng inferests - - - - - - - - 521 62,748 63,275 (63,275) -
Issue of shares upon share placement - [REEERTRE 1017 - 3804 - - - - - - - 4871 - 487
Degmed disposal of RietenkEs

non-controling interests - - - - - - - - 163 (9514) (9.351) 9,351 -
Capitalinjection from non-controling ~ FFERERTE

nterests - - - - - - - - - - - 28,700 28,700
Equity seffled share-based

transactions - - - - - - - 82 - - 821 - 821
Lapse of share options - - - - - - - (848) - 848 - - -
At 31 December 2019 RZF-NE

+ZA=1-A 119,649 624 826,773 239371 15,983 6,01 200 6,594 (71,491 48,800 976,740 128536 1,105,276

At1 January 2020 R-B-EF-F-H 119649 624 826773 23,937 15,983 6,011 (200) 6,594 (11,491) 48800 976,740 12853 1,105,276
Total comprehensive inome/ AERRERA/

(expenses) for the year (Ffﬁi“@& - - - - - - - - 6915 (25,108 41,117 89,198 130,015

Revaluafion suplus releasedupon ~ (HEWE -
dlisposal of property, plant and E&{%%i%ﬁﬁ‘]

equipment Y - - - (185) - - - - - 185 - - -
Reversal of deferred tax labiityupon ~ EfEBEEHFA)

releass of reveluation surplus EthEEERE - - - 45 - - - - - - 45 3 78
Deemed purchase of non-controling 8 B3EARkiER

iterests . . - - - - - - 130 3930 38080 (38089 -
Release upon expiy of convertble. AR EE

option on bonds ERER - - - - (15989 - - - - 1593 - - -
Deemed disposal of RiRtEkREs

non-controllng inferests - - - - - - - - 50 (6,663) (6,613) 6,613 -
Capital njection from RS

non-controling inferests - - - - - - - - - - - 4121 4121
Lapse of share options BRERR - - - - - - - (344) - 34 - - -
At 31 December 2020 R-%E-%

TZA=1-H 119,649 624 826,773 2,197 - 6,071 (200 6,250 (5,836) 72850 1,049,978 190412 1,240,390
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —ZF —FF+ - H=+—HIFFZF

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cash flows from operating activities RETERERE
Profit/(loss) before tax BEARA,(EE) 112,974 (93,761)
Adjustments for: SATIEE EH A%
Finance costs BhE KA 12,951 17,036
Interest income F 2N (271) (1,304)
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BEMERETE
equipment 64,317 45,183
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRBEENE 10,991 11,373
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREYETEIE 9,377 -
Impairment of inventories FERE - 46,748
Impairment loss on trade receivables FEUNE S8R 2 BE RS 1,778 12,202
Impairment loss on other receivables EAbEUER K 2 BIEE B 513 6,746
Fair value changes of investment properties EYE 2 AT EEE 332 (14,648)
Loss on early redemption of convertible IR ER AT AR ES 2 BB
bonds 15,706 -
Fair value changes on financial assets at BAFEFABGRZERMEEZ
fair value through profit or loss nEE 48 2
Equity settled share-based payment DEREENRDNRAX
expenses - 821
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BREREREZEE
equipment 524 1,376
Share of loss of a joint venture EiEEEEER - 648
Operating cash flows before working capital BEESEYF LR ERE
changes 229,240 32,422
Change in inventories FEE 7,124 (23,993)
Change in properties for sale under BRPGFEVEED
development 117,876 549,540
Change in trade and other receivables, FEWE 5 BR R B EL A PR U BR K
deposits and prepayments HENSEE O 23,760 36,613
Change in trade and other payables FET B 5 BR 7k % EL fth & {~f BR Zh (9,701) (93,353)
Change in contract liabilities BHBEES (346,713) (759,029)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations KEmE/ (TR R: 21,586 (257,800)
Interest received B UCF S 271 1,304
Tax paid BATIE (505) (19)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEBE (TR RESFE
operating activities 21,352 (256,515)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n\lj_\ }EEUWE%

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —ZF —FF+ A =+—HIFFZ

2020 2019
—ERIERF —h&
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cash flows from investing activities BRETEZEERE
Proceeds from disposal of investment HEREYE 7 FTS08
properties 1,432 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and &Y% - HE N & E 2 RS mE
equipment 241 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment A BB NERE (5,839) (28,624)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEWE BELRREBZEMNET2
plant and equipment (3,548) (4,917)
Acquisition of land Wi b - @2,177)
Changes in restricted bank deposits ZRHIRITIERE (11,545) (354)
Changes in pledged bank deposits EHERIRIT R E 1,351 (754)
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFTACESTE (17,908) (36,826)
Cash flows from financing activities RETECZRERE
New short-term bank loans raised s HIRTTER - 181,632
Proceeds from other borrowings HiEEMERIE - 85,000
Advance from the controlling shareholder RE Hxﬂxﬁﬁ’]ﬁ 17,015 2,906
Repayment to the controlling shareholder BRI R (73,513) (3,358)
Repayment of bank loans BERITEN (22,508) (68,112)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEEARE (6,888) (10,949)
Interest paid A (20,417) (15,367)
Lease interest paid BEAEERNS (1,575) (2,022)
Capital injection from non-controlling interest 38 B FE{E iR T E 4,121 28,700
Proceeds from issue of shares BATIR(D 2 FT1S 518 - 4,871
Early redemption of convertible bonds IRREE AR ES (60,000) -
Repayment from non-controlling shareholder & 5 — [ B A A1 3EIE AR IR B9 B =X
of a subsidiary 124,466 145,869
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEEE (FTA) FB2REFE
financing activities (39,299) 349,170
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRBSEEYORD) IGNFEE
cash equivalents (35,855) 55,829
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FYIz R RREEEBY
of the year 35,389 16,154
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate HNFE [ R ) 2 o 15,575 (36,594)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRZHELRELSEEY 15,109 35,389
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents BERBSEEYWDT
Bank and cash balances RTINS R 15,109 35,389
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - LT -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability. In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), the Company’s controlling shareholder is Double Key
International Limited (the “Controlling Shareholder”), a company
incorporated in British Virgin Islands with limited liability. The address
of its registered office and principal place of business are Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and Room 401A,
Empire Centre, 68 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
respectively. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the
Group principally engaged in (i) the manufacturing and sale of lithium
ion motive battery, lithium ion battery module, battery charging devices,
battery materials machines and production lines, new energy solution
and sale of relevant equipment, investments holding and import and
export trading (the “Lithium lon Motive Battery Business”) and (i) the
property development business, as well as the cultural industry related
business, including large-scale event production and themed museums,
and architectural design and engineering (the “Property and Cultural
Business”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are
relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 January 2020. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”);
and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs
did not result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies,
presentation of the Group’s financial statements and amounts reported
for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective. The Group has already commenced an assessment
of the impact of these new HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state
whether these new HKFRSs would have a material impact on its results
of operations and financial position.

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective 1 January 2020

The following amendments to standards have been adopted by
the Group for the first time for the financial year beginning on 1
January 2020:

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of a business

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of material

(Amendments)
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and Hedge in relation to accounting
HKAS 39 (Amendments) requirements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BT ER B MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. RMFFI R RV BERE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS EA([EFBUBERELER D) (&)
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet (b) TEMEREMNHF LT
effective BB KHREER
The following new and amendments to HKFRSs have been issued THFEI B Bﬁ‘“iﬁiiﬁﬁﬂﬁ,ﬁ\f Hl
but are not effective for the financial year beginning on 1 January REEHMG - EHARL T F—
2020, and have not been early adopted by the Group. A—BRENTBRFEER  BAE

R AREZRTERAR ©

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on or after

RUTBEHRZ2%
BRI EERBEN
HKFRS 16 Amendments in relation to COVID-19 Related Rent 1 June 2020
Concessions
BB wERER B 1658 HRACOVID- 1918 £ R BV ERT —EZTFRA—HA
HKFRS 4, 7, 9 and 16 and Amendments in relation to Interest Rate Benchmark 1 January 2021
HKAS 39 Reform
BEANBEMEENFEL 79K B BN =R ENERT —Z-_—%—H—H
1655 A R BB G S 2RI FE 3958
HKFRS 3 Amendments in relation to Reference to the 1 January 2022
Conceptual Framework
BB EER B398 BB SIER 2 RMAER —E-—#—H—H
HKAS 16 Amendments in relation to proceeds before intended 1 January 2022
use
BB ERIE165% B BVERE R R 2 PTG FIEMIEET —E--F—H—H
HKAS 37 Amendments in relation to onerous contracts cost of 1 January 2022
fulfilling a contract
BB BT ERIEITHR BHABITENZ BRSO ARER] —E-_—_#—H—H
HKFRS 1 Subsidiary as a first-time adopter 1 January 2022
BEMBSREEAFE15R Bt A 7 B R ER AN - _F—H—H
HKFRS 9 Fees in the “10 per cent” test for derecognition of 1 January 2022
financial liabilities
BN ELER|FEHR BIrERERBEZ10%AHTHER —E-_—F—Hf—H
HKFRS 16 Lease incentives 1 January 2022
BB ISR 21658 THE R —E-—_#—HA—H
HKAS 41 Taxation in fair value measurements 1 January 2022
BEEFERE415R AN EFEFHIBIE - _F%—H—H
HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts 1 January 2023
BB IwEERNFET RERE A —E-=%—H—H
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Amendments in relation to sale or contribution of assets To be determined
between an investor and its associate or joint venture
BEMBREERFE109 & ERAREEEEBENASEE L ANEELE FE
B g ERIE285% ST EMER]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

2.

R R BT BB RS
ZA([HBMBREER D) (&)

(b) EEMERERBIHETRIET
FRMBHREER (R

Effective for

annual periods
beginning on or after
RUTBEBRZ%
FRRNFEERBEN

HKAS 1
Current or Non-current

Amendments in relation to Classification of Liabilities as

1 January 2023

BEGTERIE 1R BERBSEREB B ED BIER] —E-_=%—HA—H
HK-int 5 Amendments in relation to Amendments to HKAS 1 1 January 2023
BEREESTR BB EAFEIRHETMIEL BT —E-=%—H—H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by HKICPA, and the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for property, plant and equipment and
certain financial instruments, which are measured at revalued amounts
or fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of key assumptions and estimates. It
also requires management to exercise its judgments in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgments
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #iZ —Z&Z - =

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31 December.
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the current ability
to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the
entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights as
well as potential voting rights held by other parties, to determine whether
it has control. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has
the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date the
control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net assets of that
subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between the non-
controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions
(i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the
Company.

Business combination and goodwiill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in
which the costs are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of
the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase
which is attributed to the Company.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Goodwill
is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The method
of measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of other
assets as stated in the accounting policy below. Impairment losses
of goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not
subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for the
purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured at
the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net fair value
of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have
joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
Relevant activities are activities that significantly affect the returns of
the arrangement. When assessing joint control, the Group considers
its potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has joint control. A potential voting right
is considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise that
right.

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture. A joint
operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint
control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations
for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a
joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

In relation to its interest in a joint operation, the Group recognises in
its consolidated financial statements, its assets, including its share of
any assets held jointly; its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities
incurred jointly; its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising
from the joint operation; its share of the revenue from the sale of the
output by the joint operation; and its expenses, including its share of any
expenses incurred jointly, in accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to
the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially recognised at
cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the joint venture in an acquisition
are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of
the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
joint venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill.
The goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is
tested for impairment together with the investment at the end of each
reporting period when there is objective evidence that the investment
is impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised
in consolidated profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Joint arrangements (Continued)

The Group’s share of a joint venture’s post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of the post-
acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the consolidated
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share
of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the joint
venture, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture subsequently
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those
profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a joint venture that results in a loss
of joint control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that joint venture and (ii) the Group’s share of the net assets of that
joint venture plus any remaining goodwill relating to that joint venture
and any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate, the
Group continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure
the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its joint
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests in the joint
ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of joint ventures have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation

@

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency on initial recognition using the exchange rates prevailing
on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this translation
policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(©

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have
a functional currency different from the Company’s presentation
currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency
as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of
that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the transaction dates);
and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are
recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. When
a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly factories and offices. Property, plant and
equipment are carried at fair values, based on periodic valuations
by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation and
impairment losses. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of
revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset
and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

64 Tesson Holdings Limited

3.

TEETBER(E)

SRS (&)
) #HEERAGHRE

FIEA < WBEEREARB 2 25EE N
RZAREMEERZZERMBMRRTY
BTN ABRERARB 225G

- REMZIZFBRRAKRZE
ENBERVHARRARAEZ
WEREE

- WARFAXNEFHEXRKRE
(MR EI IFN R 5 B H
ZERERRFHZEZAER
WERRIN - REZBRT - WA
KX AZRR 5 A 827 & xR
8 Rk

- FMAEELEZEREZRTININE
BEE 54 (et fR TR R

RFERER  RRESIEERE
FRENEEEEZERZRTININE
PE 5 R FERR - B BN R -
ZEEREZEINGEBRAERR
HEBmZ —87 -

RUBEINERMEEZHERAT
ERE  HRESZLEIEBZEE
NEBRE  WREHERGHE -

M3~ BERRE

BTFIZEEIMEMAE - WX - BFE
K& R A HE (RIR SN B S (4 B R E 2
BT EEFE) AR ZITE MREER
JIfR - REMBHIZEMRAITEREE
ZAREEAESE  mMEFRNEIEEE
ZEhERE -

Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Revaluation increases of property, plant and equipment are recognised
in profit or loss to the extent that the increases reverse revaluation
decreases of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss. All
other revaluation increases are credited to the asset revaluation reserve
as other comprehensive income. Revaluation decreases that offset
previous revaluation increases of the same asset remaining in the asset
revaluation reserve are charged against the asset revaluation reserve as
other comprehensive income. All other decreases are recognised in profit
or loss. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued property,
plant and equipment, the attributable revaluation increases remaining in
the asset revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained profits.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their revalued amounts less their residual values
over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term of the lease or
25 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of the lease or
25 years

Plant and Machinery 4%-33%

Office equipment 20%

Motor vehicles 20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed
and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and
plant and machinery pending installation, and is stated at cost less
impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets are
available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or building held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation. An investment property is measured initially at
its cost including all direct costs attributable to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at its fair value.
Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the investment
property are recognised in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
property, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases
The Group as Lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding lease
liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the Group.
Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated
at rates to write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are
as follows:

Land
Buildings

Over the lease term of 50 years
Over the lease term of 3-9 years

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of
the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments prepaid,
initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the
net present value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an initial
lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value
below HK$39,000 (equivalent to approximately US$5,000).

66 Tesson Holdings Limited

3.

TEETBER(E)

REME

BREMEDRBRBRES R,/ HEREET
HEZLWE /BT - REVENTIK
HEHRA(BREMERIGZAAEERRA)

=
= °

RO LHERE  REVDREERFED
B REMELTFEEHEE ZWHNE
BREEAHET AR -

HEREMEZBERMELEMGSIA
FEREREER 25 - WINEEARER o

HE
ALEEE AT

HENHEEEAHAREEREER R
EREEEMMIEHERE -ERAREE
Ty AR R T I & SO BB IR SIRR © (£
REEENREECHAFHEREY &
FREKE E A B AR MEE A AR B R 5
BIE - TEFMEIMT

i
BF

ZE0F M E
RIEIFMHER

ERAREERKAE  BREVMKTER
ERESR  ANHEERE - TIREENX
ARRERA - HERBEBRERAEOR
Pt AR (B BRI R A] THEE) @ A K
BrEEIEENE T RBENROREF
B SHENFNEEERERA ZEE
Bk - MEKARAHRARERZAN
B - AEHERERENEXRETE °

HEHHAEREEEEERSHBNN
F o RABRUNEREAEESNER AR
Yo RHBAEDNAMSHAB A+ =M@A
FUTHHRE - REEEEAEEER
39,0007 T (FBE 495,000 7T ) KB EE °

Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all the risks and
rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as operating leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Properties for sale under development

Properties for sale under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Costs include acquisition costs, prepaid land
lease payments, construction costs, borrowing costs capitalised and
other direct costs attributable to such properties. Net realisable value is
determined by reference to sale proceeds received after the reporting
period less selling expenses, or by estimates based on prevailing market
condition. On completion, the properties are reclassified to properties
held for sale at the then carrying amount.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined using the weighted average basis. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of all production overhead expenditure,
and where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statement
of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract whose
terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe established by
the market concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus
directly attributable transaction costs except in the case of investments
at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of investments at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

(@)  Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the following
conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose objective
is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;
and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected credit
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets (Continued)
(b) Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they do
not meet the conditions to be measured at amortised cost and
the conditions of debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is not held for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising from
changes in fair values recognised in profit or loss. The fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss are net of any interest
income and dividend income. Interest income and dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are the
weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default
occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the expected
credit losses that result from all possible default events over the
expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit
losses”) for trade receivables and contract assets, or if the credit
risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that represents the expected credit losses that
result from default events on that financial instrument that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the loss
allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required amount is
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in
the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are
set out below.

Convertible loans

Convertible loans which entitle the holder to convert the loans into
a fixed number of equity instruments at a fixed conversion price are
regarded as compound instruments consist of a liability and an equity
component. At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-
convertible debt. The fair value of any derivative features embedded in
the compound instruments is included in the liability component. The
difference between the proceeds of issue of the convertible loans and
the fair values assigned to the liability component, representing the
embedded option for the holder to convert the loans into equity of the
Group, is included in equity as capital reserve. The liability component
is carried as a liability at amortised cost using the effective interest
method until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The derivative
components are measured at fair value with gains and losses recognised
in profit or loss.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible loans based on their relative carrying
amounts at the date of issue. The portion relating to the equity
component is charged directly to equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #iZ —Z&Z - =

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract
with a customer with reference to the customary business practices and
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation
by transferring control over a product or service to a customer.
Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that apply to that
contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is recognised
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the product or service.

Other revenue
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive
payment are established.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Employee benefits
(@  Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to the at the end of
the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

(b)  Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes
which are available to all employees. Contributions to the schemes
by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of
employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost
charged in profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

(c)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits
and when the Group recognises restructuring costs and involves
the payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
directors and employees.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and employees are
measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non market-based
vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of grant. The
fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based
payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and
adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are measured at
the fair value of the services rendered or if the fair value of the services
rendered cannot be reliably measured, at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group
receives the services and is recognised as an expense.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a capitalisation rate
to the expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted
average of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings
made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to it and that the
grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.

Research and development expenses

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred. An internally generated intangible asset
arising from the Group’s development activities is recognised only if all of
the following conditions are met:

(@) Anasset is created that can be identified;

(b) It is probable that the asset created will generate future economic
benefits; and

(c) The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Internally generated intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Where no internally
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure
is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part
of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of
such properties are presumed to be recovered through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model
of the Group whose business objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax
for such investment properties are measured based on the expected
manner as to how the properties will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from sales of properties
less deductible expenditures including land costs, borrowing costs,
business taxes and all property development expenditures. LAT is
recognised as an income tax expense. LAT paid is a deductible expense
for PRC enterprise income tax purposes.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to
the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiy is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company.

76 Tesson Holdings Limited

3.

TEETBER(E)

A (&)

REAEERATEEAGFEZRENEZ
BELEREBEMS - ZFEVEZEEEIRE
HEBHEWE - BRIFRBRERE - 1
BREWMER TIHERNAEE Z ZHRA
(XK ERIBEERRRAERREDE
ABZBREBARENZ - MIEBBEE)
FENBAT  ARBRREET - HER
WETE » AFREMEZBEERAREN
el 2 TEEI T A EHE o

B BB R R ITREN AR IR E
ERFENHARAAE  RERSESREF
—HBERBUWZ AR - L RAREG
PR AREEENYRBEEERAR
B RERBREERBERIERAEKE -

R+ bR E B ([ Lt 3 E R )

T Hb i (E TR R IS B S E TS
RERATMRFAY (BRELIMWEAN - EE
AR - BEBRETYERBERI)ENT
30% E60% 2 RiEF KU o T HIBER
WRAMSHAY c iR S
mE @ B THISERATHRAS

BEAL

o

BEALEREAREBHEZALTRER

@ fH—BALEATIRER  ZBRA
TREFGRMHREREEGRRE :

() HAKREESESERHRE
Tl

() HEEEBEAYEN %

iy BAEARARKARNBFRARZE
ZEBENXE o

Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV ERE M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. XESTHEEE)
(CONTINUED)
Related parties (Continued) BAEAL(E)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions (o) fh?*/\T§IJ1£{‘J1|7K1¢ BzZZ 2B AN
applies: SEEHE
()  The entity and the Company are members of the same () %EBHEAAQAFABR-—SEZ
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow KERR(BIEERR - WEBA
subsidiary is related to the others). EGEEIGIENGE AR
) -
(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity iy —HEREAZ EBIEZERD
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of A EETE (IS —BEAE
which the other entity is a member). )iy 4=UNCId PN
BEDEIKEBRT) -
(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. iy MEAEEHYAR—F=FA246
PO
BIEE o
(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other vy —HEBRE-FEEZEE
entity is an associate of the third entity. TtE Mr—EBERBAZE=/A

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit v) EBERATEENEAEEAFEA
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the B ERMEEMNDRL B
Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring BaEfts cMAEELRTE
employers are also related to the Group. BT E - RMHEBZEED

AR B FRAE o

(v The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person vi) EBEXZ (AT A TSI

identified in (a). RS o

NETHBIATHEREREEKX
ﬁT%EK%ﬁ;(TaAE\%Z
ZEEEAS -

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the (vii)
entity or is @ member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

—
&
=
=

1 A
5> g
_l
N2
|_H,

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, (vii) & %%T’E?%E B (EfaIp B A 7]
provides key management personnel services to the Hp—EHHMRARQRHARF
Company or to a parent of the Company. ME R 7 RETZEEAESR

ﬁ% o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the financial statements are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the performance of
the Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial
reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of productions processes, the type or class
of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Impairment of assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not yet available
for use are reviewed annually for impairment and are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets other than investment,
inventories and receivables, to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal
of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information
about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting period or those
that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate are
adjusting events and are reflected in the financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the Directors have
made the following judgements that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

(@)  Legal titles of certain land and buildings

As stated in Note 17 and Note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements, the titles of certain parcels of land were not transferred
to the Group as at 31 December 2020. Despite the fact that the
Group has not obtained the relevant legal titles, the Directors
determine to recognise those right-of-use assets and properties
for sales under development, respectively, on the grounds that
they expect the transfer of legal titles in future should have no
major difficulties and the Group is in substance controlling those
parcels of land.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(a)  Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values
and related depreciation charges for the Group’s property, plant
and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise
the depreciation charge where useful lives and residual values are
different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.

(b)  Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is determined with reference to the fair
value less costs of disposal and present value of estimated future
cash flows. Where the fair value less costs of disposal and future
cash flows are less than expected or there are unfavourable events
and change in facts and circumstance which result in revision of
fair value less costs of disposal and future estimate cash flows, a
material impairment loss may arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(©

(@)

(€

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and other
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires
the use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual result is
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of the trade and other receivables and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate has been changed.

Net realisable value of inventories and properties for sale under
development

Net realisable value of inventories and properties for sale under
development is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated costs of completion and selling expense.
These estimates are based on the current market condition and
the historical experience of manufacturing and selling products of
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes
in customer taste and competitor actions in response to severe
industry cycles. The Group will reassess the estimates by the end
of each reporting period.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has
been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash —
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of
the reporting period was HK$220,408,000 was recognised during
2020. Details is presented in Note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities of
HK$ and Renminbi (“RMB”). The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

(b) Creditrisk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that
counterparties fail to perform their obligations at the end of the
reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial
assets is the carrying amounts of those assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group’s
credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivable, other
receivables, deposits and prepayments. In order to minimise
credit risk, the management review the recoverable amount
of each individual receivable regularly to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are recognised for irrecoverable receivable. In
this regard, the management consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain
concentration of credit risk as approximately 26% (2019: 47%)
and 52% (2019: 83%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due
from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers,
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

5. M¥EREE(E)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period by comparing the risk of a default occurring
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the following information
is used:

- internal credit rating;

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations; and

- significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the payment
status of borrowers.

The Group uses two categories for non-trade loan receivables
which reflect their credit risk and how the loan loss provision is
determined for each of the categories. In calculating the expected
credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each
category and adjusts for forward looking data.

(b)

FERR(E)

AEBEHBRSHEENTEARNE
R YRR A 2 B R
NeHEEREEZEERREESNE
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Category Definition Loss provision

=5l E&x EERE

Performing Low risk of default and strong capacity to pay 12 month expected losses
RiF EHRRIE R 8E 58 1218 A e B8

Non-performing

TR

Significant increase in credit risk
EERBRBEEEMN
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Lifetime expected losses
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(c)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows:

5.

MR EE(F)

(c)

REE < ER

AR B2 R E IS5 B 5 M IEH]
ZRBERF R - MM HERA K E %
FRARSHENRNEEHERE
HHRBESHRK

AEBZzeRBEIHOMET

Carrying
amounts Total contractual undiscounted cash flow
REE ENRMBREREAR
Lessthan  Between1  Between2 Over
Total iyear and2years and5years 5years
b -  -FE@ME WERLE RENE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
31 December 2020 “Z-ZE+-A=1-H
Trade, bills and other payables BN E Z8R5 - ENEER
At RN 340,541 340,541 340,541 - - -
Borrowings b 251,012 277,136 105,911 171,225 - -
Amount due to the Controling ~ FERHERRRER BR3¢
Shareholder 68 68 68 - - -
Least liabilities MEARE 20,735 23,307 7,209 5,532 10,566 -
612,356 641,052 453,729 176,757 10,566 -
31 December 2019 —E-hE+=A=1+-H
Trade, bils and other payables B ZZ83 - BN ZER
Hiv iR 330,978 330,978 330,978 - - -
Borrowings BE 263,784 302,643 108,049 15,196 184,398 -
Amount due to the Controling ~ FERHZRRIRERER 3¢
Shareholder 52,495 76,560 6,219 6,006 16,728 47,608
Least liabilities fEaRE 26,738 30,868 9,992 5,513 13,781 1,582
Convertible bonds AHRES 43,893 89,717 1,800 1,800 5,400 80,717
717,888 830,766 452,038 28,514 220,307 129,907

(d) Interest rate risk

(d) FIRER

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and
liabilities, the Group’s operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s
amounts due to the Controlling Shareholder and borrowings bear
interests at fixed interest rates.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. BHEREREE(E)

(e) Fair values

(e) AFE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial RERE BRI 2 AEE €@/
liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial BEeBABZEAEEEAZAER
position approximate their respective fair values. FERESE -

() Financial instruments by category

(H TEREPZEMIA

The carrying amounts of each of the category of the Group’s NER > AEBRZSESH T EZER
financial instruments at the end of the year are as follows: BT :
2020 2019
—ERIERF —E-hEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at fair value through profit ~ #JiATERIZIEEIZ A E
or loss designated as such upon initial SPABRZEMEE

recognition 86 134
Financial assets at amortised cost RHE AR e MEE(BIE
(including cash and cash equivalents) BE&NRESEEY) 497,328 555,304
Financial liabilities =i
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHENAIRZ cRBE 591,621 691,150
6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 6. A¥EFE
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to AT ERRFTEAMBREERFRFR
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants SHHEEENRNFIEREEESI N2
at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value B - LT RAFEFERRIERAQTE
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three 25 WEBERASEY A=ERKERE
levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value: BAREEQNTEE
Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical F—FR|AZIE : AEERIRFT=0E
assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the measurement date. Bz BRI EES B ERNERT S WECR
EERE) o
Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 F_EZHMAZIE  hEEXABEIERE
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. S EEBRISHRE — SR ZHREZIN
LB ANEUE o
Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. F=ZERHAEBE EEXBELTAE
i NBUR ©
o L XEERERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —ZF —FF+ A =+—HIFFZ
6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. AV ETE(E)

KE B BHERRNSIEER 2 EHHE)
BLBEEZ BERERN= fl::%&z%)\jz

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of any
of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances

that caused the transfer. g o
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy: (@) AFEEBSZRKE
2020
—EDEF
Fair value measurements using:
AFEFERA
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F-5R FIER EZER et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
F#ETT FETT FETT FET
Recurring fair value measurements &E4AFEE
Financial assets at fair value BEAFESABZ SR
through profit or loss BE
Listed securities in Hong Kong EF EHES 86 - - 86
Investment properties L&Y - - 29,526 29,526
2019
—NE
Fair value measurements using:
NHEFTERA
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—ER  FIER =FR “Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Recurring fair value measurements &EMHAFEE
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFABRZZ SR
profit or loss BE
Listed securities in Hong Kong B ETHES 134 - - 134
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE NEE - - 456,080 456,080
Investment properties - /ES - - 38,886 38,886
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #iZ —Z&Z - =

BAF5 B E Y RE

Ft_A=1+—HIFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. AFEFE(HE)
(b) Reconciliation of investment properties measured at b) ERF=ZZHRLFEFTEZR
fair value based on level 3: BEYEHR -
Investment
properties
2020
—E-EF
HK$°000
FET
At 1 January 2020 RZEZTF—H—H 38,886
Disposal of investment properties HEREYE (10,809)
Fair value loss on investment properties KEYENTEEEY (332)
Currency realignment B 1,781
At 31 December 2020 R-ZZE-ZEF+-_H=+—H 29,526
# Include gains or losses for assets held at end  WEIEAIRE IR B N EENEE
of reporting period (332

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (c) BER-—ZE_ZFEF+-_A=1+—
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value BAEEREAZHERFRMG
measurements at 31 December 2020: ERTHRAFEFEMRKAZE

AR
The Group’s finance team is responsible for the fair value AEBNTFEZE EHERRETA
measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial EERNEENBBEAFETE @ 825
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements. The FoFMATEFE - YKEEKERE
finance team reports directly to the Directors for these fair value MEZZMZEAFENZ - MIEE
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and results are KRESEEFGFEEDEITRAEBGHE
held between the finance team and the Directors at least twice a BIE AR TR o
year.
For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally ME=ZHAFEFEMS » AEH
engage external valuation experts with the recognised professional BEESREEFERTEEERE
qualifications and recent experience to perform the valuations. B HEBRAINTEEERETH
ER0
—E-BFR XERRAERAE S/
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HZ —ZF —FF+ - H=+—HIFFZF

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. AFEFE(HE)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (c) WER=-ZE-EF+=-H=+—
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value AAREEFRFERAZEERFRM
measurements at 31 December 2020: (Continued) ERORAFEEREAZE

ABE (&)
Effect on fair
Valuation Unobservable value for increase Fair value
Description technique inputs Range of inputs 2020
YLD bt bt 222
B fHEHRT TUEEBARE &E NHEZHE ZAVE
HK$°000
FEr
Investment properties Income approach Term yield 8% Increase
REWE WK BEERE #m
Reversion yield 8.5%
EHERE
Adopted market rent RMB28 per sg.m.
FEATmHE per month
BRETARAEB28T 29,526
Effect on fair
Valuation Unobservable value for increase Fair value
Description technique inputs Range of inputs 2019
YY) ZE-NE
A fHERD TR ARE #E AHEZ T2 ZAVE
HK$'000
FET
Buildings Direct comparison Market value that properties ~ RMB8,670 - Increase
BF can be sold RMB20,000/sq.m. &1
BRELRE AELNETE FIHRARES 6707
ZE AR#20,0007 54,082
Depreciated Current cost of replacing the  RMB1,800/sq. m. Increase
replacement cost improvement BEARARE1,800T BN
FEEBRAZE BB B AR
Investment properties Income approach Term yield 8.0% Increase
REMZ WAE BHEHRE 38,886
Reversion yield 8.5% #m
GERE
Adopted market rent RMB28 per sq.m.
iEiniE kA per month
FRAETHRAR28T
Plant and machinery, motor ~ Direct comparison Market value for similar assets  RMB44,700 - Increase
vehicles, office equipment, and depreciated B EE A RMB253,460,000 0
construction in progress replacement cost AEH44,700L2
JF%?M%%’% A ERLBER AR #253,460,0007T
WAERE  ERIRE FEEENAE 401,998
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

7. REVENUE 7. W&
The Group’s revenue was derived from lithium ion motive battery REBRAFEZWFZFEC ESHEEETH
products sold, property development and cultural service rendered NEMER  MEER KRN XER
during the year. Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with o BPALHZWEMD T o IR EE
customers is set out as below. For both years, all revenue generated by EARN NEBELEZHAEKRAGKEH
the Group were derived from the PRC and recognised at a point in time W EPESE MR 2 = H R R o

when the customers obtain control of the goods or services.

2020 2019
e —TNF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Lithium ion motive battery products TN B MER 149,171 53,438
Property development and cultural service W EE R U RS 613,720 858,908
762,891 912,346
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers and major REBFEHRDBEEER 2 WEHES
products of the segments are as follows: T
Lithium lon Property
Motive and
Battery Cultural
Business Business Total
$EEE T B MER
ESNUE XL et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
For the year ended BZz—ZT-ZTH5+=A
31 December 2020 =+t—HILEE
Major products/services FE2EM RS
Batteries Eii 149,171 - 149,171
Properties e - 603,833 603,833
Provision of event production service IRHEBRERTS - 9,887 9,887
149,171 613,720 762,891
For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE_Z—hF+_A
=r—=ElEEE
Major product/services FE2EM RS
Batteries B 53,438 - 53,438
Properties LIES - 839,225 839,225
Provision of event production service IREEERERRTS - 19,683 19,683
53,438 858,908 912,346

—F=FTH xeggERAE 30
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

7. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 7. W=E(&)

Sales of Batteries

The Group manufactures and sells batteries to the customers. Sales are
recognised when control of the products has transferred, being when
the products are delivered to a customer, there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products and the
customer has obtained legal titles to the products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of 30 to 60
days. For non state-owned enterprise or those without guarantee
provided, deposits or cash on delivery may be required. Deposits
received are recognised as contract liability.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered to
the customers as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due.

Development and sales of properties

The Group develops and sells properties to the customers. Sales of a
contract are recognised when control of the property has transferred,
being when the customer obtains the physical possession or the legal
title of the completed property and the Group has present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

Provision of event production service

The Group provides event production service to the customers.
When the progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligations of a contract can be measured reasonably, revenue from the
contract and the contract costs are recognised.

The customers pay the contract prices to the Group according to the
payment schedules as stipulated in the contracts. If the service rendered
by the Group exceeds the payments, a contract asset is recognised.
If the payments exceed the service rendered, a contract liability is
recognised.

90 Tesson Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

8. OTHER INCOME 8. HfgA

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-NF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET T

Government grants T BD 2,213 11,147
Gain on disposal of scrap products &S BRI S 1,376 -
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use assets IR R B E E G 117 -

Rental income el A 1,482 990

Others Hib 143 206

5,331 12,343

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION 9. OHER
The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer REBZAZHDHABRBTRAEMZEK
different products. They are managed separately because each business BUEBEN ARNSEBEMTENE
unit requires different technology and marketing strategies. During the Bk mGHEERE  ALES]2®R S
current and prior year, the Group’s revenue was derived from the Lithium HEYER RAFERE—FE K&
lon Motive Battery Business and the Property and Cultural Business. B WmlR BB EMEE ALY
ERSULET -
Segment profits or losses do not include unallocated corporate income DERFZEELTTBERDIEEERA
and expenses. Segment assets do not include unallocated corporate LAY - DEEEWTBREASEELEE
assets. Segment liabilities do not include unallocated corporate liabilities. E - nHaBUreRiRioiRtEaE -

—E-%EH xeepaRAE O



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —ZF —FF+ A =+—HIFFZ

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. DEPERI(E)
Information about profit or loss, assets and liabilities of the reportable B 2moEEF N ER  BELBE
segments: HER -
Lithium lon Property
Motive and
Battery Cultural
Business Business Total
SEEEFEN D MER
ESUE S XALERK “st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEIT FEIT FEIT
Year ended 31 December 2020 Bz—E—ZEF+—A
=t—-HLFE
Revenue from external customers HNER % P U E 149,171 613,720 762,891
Segment (loss)/profit DER(EE) R A (86,370) 184,168 97,798
Depreciation of property, plant and ME  BENRREITE
equipment 62,418 1,122 63,540
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 8,205 1,784 9,989
Additions to segment non-current assets K& 9 EIEREN A BE 5,075 757 5,832
At 31 December 2020 R-ZEBE-ZF+-HA
=+—H
Segment assets DEEEE 774,096 2,214,553 2,988,649
Segment liabilities NEEE 289,806 1,342,479 1,632,285
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE-—E2—h&E+=A
=+—HLFE
Revenue from external customers INERE B W s 53,438 858,908 912,346
Segment (loss)/profit DEB(EEE) SE A (144,387) 54,538 (89,849)
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BB MR ETTE
equipment 30,735 1,035 31,770
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 2,340 - 2,340
Additions to segment non-current assets K& D 2 IERENE BE 34,448 177 34,625
At 31 December 2019 R=ZB—-NF+=A
Er=1E
Segment assets DEfEE 777,680 2,393,708 3,171,388
Segment liabilities DEEE 289,099 1,577,871 1,866,970
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

—2-2EH

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. oHER(E)
Reconciliations of revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities of the 2wy EhaEfsiEE EEMBEHER
reportable segments:
2020 2019
gt 222 —T-hEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FET
Revenue Wz
Total revenue of reportable segments A 235 Fh e 762,891 912,346
Profit or loss A E R
Total profit/(loss) of reportable segments A 2FHHEBLEF),(EE) 97,798 (89,849)
Corporate and unallocated loss ERARDBLEIE (58,316) (35,913)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRmH, (EE) 39,482 (125,762)
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments A 2| RERE 2,988,649 3,171,388
Corporate and unallocated assets PERADEEE 5,146 4,124
Consolidated total assets IREREE 2,993,795 3,175,512
Liabilities afE
Total liabilities of reportable segments AIEMO LB E 1,632,285 1,866,970
Corporate and unallocated liabilities rERRDEAE 121,120 203,266
Consolidated total liabilities mERAaE 1,753,405 2,070,236

rEZRERAE OF
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HZ —ZF —FF+ - H=+—HIFFZF

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9.

Geographical information
All revenue generated by the Group were derived from the PRC.

No customer individually contributed over 10% of total revenue of the
Group for both years.

In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based on the
location of the customers. At the end of the year, the non-current assets
of the Group were located as follows:

DEBER(E)
EE R
AEE B REHTIREFE o

RWEFEAN  TERXFEBHAEER
UWEE10%BA |

REF iR ERE - WaRiRE P AEEl
7o RER - AREIRBEEN I
-

2020 2019
—ERIERF —E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Non-current assets RBEE
Hong Kong E5 2,717 3,024
The PRC Fh 803,153 837,011
805,870 840,035
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BEAAS
2020 2019
HK$' HK$°000
FAETT FEIT
Interest expenses on borrowings EENBRY 20,338 15,735
Imputed interest expense on convertible bonds  AI# R (&5 51 2.5 52 1,579 2,385
Interest expenses on amount due to FEHEARARER
the Controlling Shareholder IRFA B X 2,893 3,669
Lease interests HER S 1,575 2,022
26,385 23,811
Less: Interest capitalisation Ji: FBERE (13,434) (6,775)
12,951 17,036
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

11. INCOME TAX 11. Fif8#
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET T
PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the year REEHRHDEMETR 90,401 82,143
PRC land appreciation tax AR I (E R 6,046 8,706
Deferred tax (Note 30) IRIEFLIA(M13230) (22,955) (58,848)
73,492 32,001
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was required since the Group HARAEBRZRFEEE B EER
has no assessable profit in Hong Kong for the years presented. FimA  BEAREBFSHIELR B -
According to the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax, all group BEBERBEGEMEHTE  RPELERN
companies operating in the PRC are subject to the applicable tax rate FrEEB AR BLE AN E2% M
of 25%, except for certain subsidiaries that are qualified for the tax H - EETHBRARMEERZERRS
benefit of being the National High-tech Enterprise, that are entitled to a TEMEXoHBESR  AIRREFEE
preferential tax rate of 15% during the reporting years. ZAEETEAS% R ©
The reconciliation between the income tax and the loss before tax is as FriSTERfR LA B R 2 EIBR T -
follows:
2020 2019
—ECEF —E—NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET T
Profit/(loss) before tax from continuing B RS 7 TR A
operations wmal/ (E1R) 112,974 (93,761)
Notional tax on profit before tax calculated BHEEEREGE 2
at the PRC statutory rate MR BDR M 2 ZRFIE 28,244 (23,440)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBIRA Z g2 (379) (2,267)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses PRI 2 R 2 363 10,009
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AR IBER 2 RGBT E 31,202 35,979
Effect of different tax rates in other tax HEmFR el A ER TR R &
jurisdictions and tax concessions IR 2 2 14,062 11,720
Income tax for the year FAPEH 73,492 32,001
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HZ —ZF —FF+ - H=+—HIFFZF

12. PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 12, NEERR,(FHE)
The Group’s profit/(loss) for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) REBPAREERH (BE)RIN%, (5t
the following: A) T EIEESR
2020 2019
—ECEF —ET-NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FET
Auditor’s remuneration IZEE I & 1,200 1,380
Cost of sales HHERA 461,706 808,880
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  ¥12 ~ B MR EITE 64,317 45,183
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEETE 10,991 11,373
Impairment of Inventories FERE - 46,748
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BE MREEE
equipment 524 1,376
Impairment loss on trade receivables FEWE 5 R 2 B EE 1,778 12,202
Impairment loss on other receivables HAb R 2 REESE 513 6,746
Loss on early redemption of convertible bonds 12 F 45 B A[ AL E % 2 518 15,706
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEKREYE L EE 9,377 -
Research and development expenses (including 5% & f 25 (BIEITE & 8 THAR)
depreciation and staff costs) 5,947 12,289
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments): 8 T A(BIEEEME) :
Salaries, bonus and allowances ZE - 22 2R 68,191 76,385
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses  LATE % 45 & 19 I& (A 1~ 3058 5% - 821
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZF —ZE _—FF+ - A=+—HIFFZF

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 13. EERAVESFALZHME
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments of each Director were as follows: BEE MW -
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
E230 )4 RIKER
ne Hib & AR Bt
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Executive Directors BITES
Ms. Cheng Hung Mui Bateat 180 1,218 18 1,416
Mr. Tin Kong AL E 180 980 18 1,178
Mr. Chen Dekun BRidsh ot & 180 960 - 1,140
Mr. Sheng Siguang BRtRAE 180 1,800 - 1,980
Independent Non-Executive BIHITES
Directors
Dr. Ng Ka Wing RREHT 180 - - 180
Mr. Wang Jinlin TemaaE 180 - - 180
Mr. See Tak Weh MR s 180 - - 180
Total for the year ended REBE-T-ZF
31 December 2020 +-A=+—H
\EFE RS 1,260 4,958 36 6,254
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HZ —ZF —FF+ - H=+—HIFFZF

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 13. EERENESFHFATZHME
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) (48)
Retirement
Salaries  Equity-settled benefits
and other share-based scheme
Fees benefits payment contributions Total
MR ISR RINER
ik Hib g7 0] SnEREN STEMER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FAET FET FET
Executive Directors HTES
Ms. Cheng Hung Mui Bartgat 180 1,318 - 18 1,516
Mr. Tin Kong A LA 180 1,058 101 18 1,357
Mr. Chen Dekun i 180 960 50 - 1,190
Mr. Sheng Siguang BANLE 180 2,008 - - 2,183
Independent Non-Executive BUFHTES
Directors
Dr. Ng Ka Wing RREEL 180 - - - 180
Mr. Wang Jinlin et 180 - - - 180
Mr. See Tak Wah mEELE 180 - - - 180
Total for the year ended REBE-Z-—NE
31 December 2019 +-A=+—A8It
R 1,260 5,339 151 36 6,786
The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2019: NAEEIUGEFEERE=2Z(_%
three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in information —NE: =Z)5%F - HMEFEFHRN L
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining two (2019: two) non- MBRE c REEBRTMBZ(—E—IE : K
director, highest paid employees for the year are as follows: ZVEEERSH EEZMEENT -
2020 2019
—ECEF =N
HK$’000 HK$000
FHET FETT
Salaries and other benefits HN & E A AE R 2,400 2,365
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The number of non-directors, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

1&%§&£ﬁ%%ﬁkizwﬁ

MeENTF Ty BBz IFEERSFEEY
HEMT :

Number of employees

BEHE
2020 2019
—E=-BF  —TNF
Emolument bands & EE
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,00178 7T — 1,500,000/ 7T 2 2

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the five highest paid individuals, including
directors, as an inducement to join the Group or as compensation for
loss of office other than those disclosed above. In addition, during the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no directors waived any
emoluments.

14. DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

15. LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$25,198,000 (2019:
HK$104,331,000), and the weighted average number of 1,196,485,700
(2019: 1,190,077,207) ordinary shares in issue during the year.
Diluted loss per share
No diluted loss per share is presented as the Company did not have

any dilutive potential ordinary shares during the two years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019.

—2-2EH

RBEZZT_ZFER=_FT—-NF+=A
=+ —HIEFE  KNEBFERR SR
BREIZANGSFAT(BEESR)X
e ERMBEAREEZRE - SEAR
KEBMZEBE - I REEZZT=F
FRZF-NF+ZA=+—HILEFE "
BEEENEEAMS -

14. RS

BE-_T-ZF+-_A=+—HLTFE "
EEgUERBIRNEABRE(ZZE—N
FE)

15. BRE#E
SRENEE

SREREBEIIERN QRS ARG ARFE
E E538 4925,198,000/8 L ( — & — AL 4F ¢
104,331,000/ 70 ) KRN AN FEE BTER
A% 2 Nt 15 81,196,485,7008 (== — N,
£ :1,190,077,2078% )51 & -

BRESEE
HRARFRBE-_ZT-_EER_T—H
FE+-A=t—HItREAFEE T EE @ L

BEYENEBELTRR HRYE2IIEK
Bgis -

REEZERERDE
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e AR B EE
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZF - FE - F#+ - H=+—HI F&E

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. W% - BERRHE

Leasehold  Plantand Motor Office Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery vehicles  equipment  in progress Total
HENE
BF ®  HERKS B RAERE  REIR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
AT AT AT AT AT AT FET
Cost or valuation A
At1 January 2019 R=E-nE-HA-A 42,001 9,722 417,852 8,421 6,451 50,836 535,373
Currency realignment BhE (780) (180) (7,744) (89) (115) (04 (9,850)
Additions RE - 3 539 - 274 27,808 28,604
Disposals e - - (1479 - (207) - (1,686)
Adjustment arising on revaluation SHELRAE 12771 (2,591) (99,856) (4,099) (2619 7 96,381)
Transfers B - 41,558 61 - - (41,619 -
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 REE-NETZA=T-HR
“$-%%-f-H 54,082 48,512 309,373 4,239 3,784 36,090 456,080
Currency realignment EhE 3,387 2,884 19,013 155 253 2,383 28,025
Additions RE - - 1417 597 460 3,365 5,839
Disposal HE - (1579 - (128) ) - (1,708
At 31 December 2020 RZE-EFT-A=1-H 5749 49817 329,803 4,863 4,496 41838 488,236
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZHERAE
At 1 January 2019 R=E-hnE-PB-H 3,999 1,084 71,726 2,79 1723 - 87,527
Currency realignment FUELS (111) (1) (2,087) (49 (54) - (2312)
Charge for the year EREY 2,339 1,246 38,078 2,031 1,489 - 45,183
Disposals e - = (169) = (147) = (310)
Eliminated on revaluation S (6,027) (2469 (113604) (Naal! (3,011) - [130088)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 REE-NF+-A=T-HEk
“32%5-A-H = = = = = = =
Qurrency realignment R 204 490 2,564 55 73 - 3,386
Charge for the year ERRxX 3799 10,009 47282 1841 1,386 - 64,317
Disposals e - (874) - (68) () - (043)
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-EF+-A=1-H 4,003 9,625 49,846 1,828 1,458 - 66,760
Carrying amounts RAE
At 31 December 2020 RZBRE+ZA=T-A 53416 40,19 279957 3,035 3,038 41838 421476
At 31 December 2019 RZE-nE+ZA=1-A 54,082 48512 309,373 4239 3784 36,090 456,080
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eV ERE M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% - BMERRE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Had all the categories of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, WAEE S EDHE - WMELRRE(EEL
other than construction in progress, been carried at cost less T2 AN) TR AE 25 €518 - 1Y
accumulated depreciation, the carrying values of property, plant and ¥ BENMEREEATYIEREEYER :

equipment would have been stated as follows:

2020 2019

b S 2:3 “E-NEF
Accumulated Accumulated
depreciation depreciation

and Carrying and Carrying

Cost  impairment amounts Cost  imparment amounts
iE ZitHE

A RAE REE g KR REE

HK$'000  HKS000  HK$000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS'000
FET FET FET TAT T TAT

Building gF 26,283 9,891 16,392 22,946 5,888 17,058
Leasehold improvements RENERE 43,403 12,098 31,305 36,350 2473 33,877
Plant and machinery iR Ra 429,357 159,338 270,019 408,927 109,492 299,435
Motor vehicles B 9,095 6,046 2,149 8,471 5118 3,353
Office equipment NG 7,322 4,434 2,888 6,610 2,976 3,634

515,460 192,707 322,753 483,304 125,947 367,357
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HZ —ZF —FF+ - H=+—HIFFZF

17. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

17. HERFERAEEE

Disclosures of lease-related items: WERTEMERIIER -
2020 2019
HK$’ HK$’000
FET FET
At 31 December: Rt+t=—A=+—-8:
Right-of-use assets EREEE
— Leasehold lands —fEtH 103,060 99,115
— Building —EBF 17,850 23,917
120,910 123,032

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted
cash flows, of the Group’s lease liability is as

follows:
Within one year
In the second year
In the third to fifth years, inclusive
Over five years

Year ended 31 December:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets

— Leasehold lands
— Building

Lease interests

Total cash outflow for leases

Additions to right-of-use assets

ENABRRERENAEE

HEREMNZHAESTOT -

—FR 7,209 9,992
E_F 5,532 5,513
FoFEEERAF(RREEREMTF) 10,566 13,781
RENME - 1,582
23,307 30,868
BE+t-A=1t—HLEE:
FREEEMNITERY
—fE i 2,015 2,033
—EF 8,976 9,340
10,991 11,373
HEF B 1,575 2,022
HEMBR S RHR 8,463 12,971
NEFAEEE 1,985 2177

The Group leases various leasehold lands and office premises. Lease
agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 3 to 9 years. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants and the leased assets may not be used as security for

borrowing purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV ERE M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

17. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. HERFRAEEE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Present value Present value
Lease of lease Lease of lease
payments payments payments payments
2020 2020 2019 2019
HE Mg

REfR NRRE  BEGE (e
“E-8% B8 —T-NF 0 ZEhA

HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET

Within one year —FR 7,209 6,283 9,992 8,510

In the second year FoF 5,532 4,736 5513 4,468

In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-EZFRF(RAEENE) 10,566 9,716 13,781 12,226

QOver five years AFNE - - 1,582 1,534

23,307 20,735 30,868 26,738

Future finance charges FEBEER (2,572) - (4,130) -

Present value of lease obligations REAERE 20,735 20,735 26,738 26,738
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 Ji - P2E AREIEEETUR

months shown under current liabilties) (RRBBETIIR) (5,144) (8,417)

Non-current portion FERE LD 15,591 18,321
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS ER B MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HZ —ZF —FF+ - H=+—HIFFZF

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

18. REWE

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-NF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FHET

At 1 January w—H—H 38,886 9,610

Transfer from properties for sale under EORERSEYE

development - 15,275
Disposal of investment properties HEREMZE (10,809)

Fair value (loss)/gains NHE(EE), W (332) 14,648

Currency realignment B 1,781 (647)

At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 29,526 38,886

Investment properties were revalued at 31 December 2020 and 2019 on
the open market value basis by reference to capitalisation of net income
derived from the existing tenancies of the properties by APAC Appraisal
and Consulting Limited, an independent firm of qualified surveyors.

The Group leases out certain of its investment properties under operating
leases. The average lease term is 9-20 years. Certain leases are on
variable lease payments with growth rate 5% and 8% respectively.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, no investment properties pledged as
security for the Group’s bank loans.

'] 04 Tesson Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV ERE M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

19. GOODWILL 19. P5E
HK$’000
FET
Cost R
At 1 January 2019 N_E—hF—H—H 211,617
Currency realignment B (3,922)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 N_E—NF+-_A=+—H8BK
—E-FF—H—H 207,695
Currency realignment B 12,713
At 31 December 2020 RZZE_TF+_HA=+—H 220,408
Carrying amounts ERMEE
At 31 December 2020 R-ZT_ZEF+_A=+—H 220,408
At 31 December 2019 —hF+ZA=+—H 207,695

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition,

EGaHMEBzZBaERNEBRES KR

to the cash generating units (“CGUSs”) that are expected to benefit from EHESERNEREH 2R ESES BN
that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill had been ([BEeELEEN])  BEEAECED
allocated as follows: BeZE AT IR BEAESBN
2020 2019
—EIEF —NEF
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET
Property development unit s E kv 220,408 207,695

—2-2EH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= AN

7 g =

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HZ —ZF —FF+ - H=+—HIFFZF

19.

20.

BF 5 R B B EE

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined on the basis
of their value in use using discounted cash flow method. The key
assumptions for the discounted cash flow method are those regarding
the discount rates, growth rates and budgeted gross margin and
revenue during the period. The Group estimates discount rates using
pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based
on long — term average economic growth rate of the geographical area
in which the businesses of the CGUs operate. Budgeted gross margin
and revenue are based on past practices and expectations on market
development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent
financial budgets approved by the Directors for the next five years with
the residual period using the growth rate of 3%. This rate does not
exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from the Group’s is

19. BE (&)

ReELFEMMA CR SR ERNEMRR
Iﬁfﬁiumg/fu BEOEREEETE - B8R
BeREAMRANERRRITANER
BRAIRE - BEX BEEMERREA
MRER - AEBEMAARRERHSHE
BRENFHEReEEEMFERRD
BRI MR AE AR E - ERXAIRAS
EA B L EEBMAED RN RAK
mi‘%*‘%%ﬁ BEEMNXEEATIR
BEEDI NFARTISRRREE -

ARBRRORSREHNREEE
R AT ) BT I BURE - RIS AR
SRR A% © HERELABBEHED
BT RIS -

RARRAEEFRARESRENNER

16%. 16% o
INVENTORIES 20. &
2020 2019
—EC-EHF —NEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Raw materials YR 6,935 3,798
Work in progress ERL 6,553 1,852
Finished goods RIFK G 17,382 30,513
30,870 36,163
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= AR

7 pg =

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #iZ —Z&Z - =

BAF5 B E Y RE

Ft_A=1+—HIFE

21. PROPERTIES FOR SALE UNDER DEVELOPMENT 21. #RH#S5EWE

HK$'000

FET

At 1 January 2019 RZZE—NF—H—H 2,168,976

Additions NE 212,093

Transfer from investment property HEIREYEE (15,275)

Properties completed and sold ®BT REEYE (754,750)

Currency realignment B (31,556)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 RZZE-NAF+A=+—80K

—E-_FTF—HF—H 1,579,488

Additions NG 304,516

Properties completed and sold BT REEYE (309,043)

Currency realignment BB (8,834)

At 31 December 2020 RZEZZTF+=-A=+—H 1,566,127

All the properties under development were located in the PRC. At
31 December 2020, properties for sale under development held by
the Group located in Nanning, with carrying value of approximately
HK$274,711,000 (2019: a parcel of land held by the Group located in
Nanning, with carrying value of approximately HK$96,027,000) was

secured for the bank loans.

—2-2EH

Ft+=-A=
B
EUNEE

FrERERYEHUNIE R_T-ZT
+—8 - RITEFEAERR
—EZERPAEMFEREER
» BREE A #9274,711,000 7%
TT(ZE—NF : BAKEMREEN—IE

&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BT ER B MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HZ —ZF —FF+ - H=+—HIFFZF

22. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 22. ERESERR EWEERHM
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS FEWARR » R & RFANRIE
2020 2019
HK$’ HK$’000
FET FET
Trade receivables FEU B SRR 109,854 68,985
Less: Impairment losses JB - ORBE R (14,524) (12,011)
95,330 56,974
Bills receivable AN 734 -
Value-added tax receivables FEU IR (E T 88,621 124,654
Other tax receivables Hoh e YA I8 597 9,207
Other receivables, prepayment and deposits EfEWEER - FBNFEKRET & 28,409 38,850
213,691 229,685
Trade and bills receivables BWE SRR EWREE
The ageing of bills receivable at the end of the years are falling within 60 FREWER 2RI A60ARA °
days.
The Group allows an average credit period of 30 to 60 days to its HREBPERPERERHBERZERP
customers which are state-owned enterprise or those with guarantee REE 4G T HRRA30E60R  MAAE
provided, and cash on delivery for all other customers. The following is EMREHUNERMZARNETRS o KA
an aging analysis of trade and bills receivables, presented based on the TRERESEFRREREBENREFEER
invoice date at the end of the years: RBEZEHZ5 2 RE DT
2020 2019
—ECEF —T-NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
0 to 60 days 0Z60H 33,758 14,195
61 to 90 days 61290H 7,682 1,579
Over 90 days 90H Ak 54,624 41,200
96,064 56,974
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REIBERE
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZF —ZE _—FF+ - A=+—HIFFZF

22. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 22 EWESRN EREBERHEM
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED) FEWRRR ~ sTE RFBENREE)
FEW B 5 BR R (E

Impairment on trade receivables

Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables:

FEWE 2 B R B IR B B

2020 2019

—EEF —E-NEF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

At beginning of the year REH (12,011) -

Impairment loss on trade receivables FEWE 5 BRF 2 REEE (1,778) (12,202)
Currency realignment B AR (735) 191

At the end of the year RER (14,524) (12,011)

Impairment on other receivables H {th e W BR TR (B

HoA e AR 2 S TR B B

Reconciliation of loss allowance for other receivables:

2020 2019

—ECEF —F—NF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

At beginning of the year REH] (6,641) -
Impairment loss on other receivables H b YR 5K 2 R (B B 1R (513) (6,746)
Currency realignment ok (434) 105
At the end of the year RER (7,588) (6,641)

—2-2EH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HZ —ZF —FF+ - H=+—HIFFZF

22. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 22 BWESEREMR BREERHEM
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED) FEUERS: » T RFENAFIE(E)
Trade receivables that are not impaired W EERE 2 EWE F R
The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 Financial NEBHBESHBRELELEN RS T
Instrument to provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime BT ZEbE  FRE2EEHEBRE
expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the BFIERKE ZERZEHEERER
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on B o ﬁgﬁ-%i‘ﬁﬁﬁ{;ﬁ e [EUNE SR
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected ROIBEEZERR S R EEXE S
credit losses also incorporate forward looking information. $H o }Eﬁﬂfaggﬁg j‘r@%ﬁﬁﬁ%'\"_{ﬁﬂ °

Less than  Over 60 days
60 days and less than
Current past due 1 year Over 1 year Total
Bf  AHEiB6e0H
g 60H /A BHR—F —FH0LE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-ZF
+=A=+-H
Weighted average expected loss rate  fi#E 5 TEHiEs I8 = 0% 0% 10% 28%
Receivable amount Bl 42,724 4,056 17,788 46,020 110,588
Loss allowance BERE - = (1,778) (12,746) (14,524)
At 31 December 2019 R-E-h&§
+=A=+-A
Weighted average expected loss rate g 4978 B 518 & 0% 0% 0% 26%
Receivable amount [l 14,913 2,373 4,967 46,732 68,985
Loss allowance BiERE = = = (12,011) (12,011)
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22.

23.

24,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Trade receivables that are not impaired (Continued)

Trade receivables that were not past due relate to a wide range of
customers who has no recent history of default. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track record with
the Group. Based on past experience, the management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are
still considered fully recoverable.

AMOUNT DUE FROM A NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY

The amount represented financial assistance provided by Nanchang
Rongzhou Investment Company Limited* (R & A MIEE B R A7)
(“Nanchang Investment”) to its shareholder before the completion of
the capital contribution in 2018. The amount due from a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary is secured by its assets and undistributed
earnings, non-interest bearing, and had no fixed term of repayment.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, RESTRICTED BANK
DEPOSITS, AND BANK AND CASH BALANCES

The Group’s pledged bank deposits represented deposits pledged to
bank to secure bills payable.

At the end of year, bank and cash balances of the Group denominated
in RMB amounted equivalent to approximately HK$66,499,000 (2019:
HK$74,733,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject
to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

At the end of the year, the restricted bank deposits of the Group
represented guarantee deposits for construction of pre-sale properties
denominated in RMB placed in designated accounts.

—ECEREH

22,

23.

24.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

nVT\

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HZ —ZF —FF+ - H=+—HIFFZF

BB RE M

The aging of bills payable at the end of the year falls within 180 days

(2019: 180 days).

At 31 December 2020, bills payable totalling HK$nil (2019:
HK$1,341,000) were secured by pledged bank deposits of HK$nil (2019:

HK$1,341,000).

An aging analysis of the trade payables at the end of the years, based

25. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. ENESERN ENEERHEM
P13 BR X

2020 2019

—EC-EfF — N

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET T

Trade payables FETE SRR 91,949 81,803

Bills payable ARE ST - 1,341
Amounts payable on acquisition of property, WM BEREEZ

plant and equipment FERTFIE 171,587 164,108

Accruals and other payables FEFT B A I EAth FE ST BR R 77,005 83,726

340,541 330,978

RER ERNEEZERA1S0R(ZZ
— L5 180H)A °

RIE_EF+_A=+—H  A:tE#F
TE(=Z— N4 1,341,000/ 7T) 2 JERTE
BIOHEEEBRROTGEREETL(ZE—N
£ 1 1,341,000/ 70 ) &R ©

UATRREFERZEZAHRZIN 2 BN

on invoice dates, is as follows: B ZRFERR DM
2020 2019
HK$' HK$’000
FET FET
0 to 60 days 0%£60H 40,939 20,054
61 to 90 days 61£290H 6,987 5,713
Over 90 days Q0B A E 44,023 56,618
91,949 81,803
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV ERE M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 26. SHNEE
Disclosures of revenue-related items: WAKBRETE B #255 -
As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 1 January
2020 2019 2019
R=ZB-BF NIZ=—NF RIZZT—IF
+=ZA=+—8 +ZA=1+—H —A—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEIT FET
Total contract liabilities EHIBERSE 938,905 1,228,995 2,013,438
Transaction prices allocated to RERDIEEERIEKEL
performance obligations unsatisfied BELIEHRATFEE
at end of year and expected to be BRAVAZZHE :
recognised as revenue in:
- 2020 ——E-FF - 696,772
- 2021 ——EF-—F 751,664 386,871
- 2022 ——FE-F 236,246 -
-2023 ——E-=F - 261,851
987,910 1,345,494
2020 2019
—E-FF —TNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Year ended 31 December BE+-_A=1+—HItFE
Revenue recognised in the year that was included RFEVFABLBEZFEA
in contract liabilities at beginning of year TR 603,833 847,479
Significant changes in contract liabilities during FREHNABZERE
the year:
Increase due to operations EIEE N 207,303 160,703
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue #ERAHEBEERA (554,016) (919,732)
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer EHABREASBEAKREPREmES
products or services to a customer for which the Group has received FEMIRBTEPZEME -

consideration from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z —ZF —FF+ A =+—HIFFZ

27. BORROWINGS 27. &8

2020 2019
i —TAF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank loans IRITER 166,012 178,784
Other borrowing HEmEE 85,000 85,000
251,012 263,784

Analysed as: DHTA
Secured A 166,012 178,784
Unsecured 44 R 85,000 85,000
251,012 263,784

At 31 December 2020, bank loans were secured by properties for sale
under development by the Group located in Nanning with carrying
value of approximately HK$274,711,000 (2019: secured by a parcel
of land held by the Group located in Nanning, with carrying value of
approximately HK$96,072,000).

Bank borrowings for the years presented are denominated in RMB.
Other borrowing of HK$85,000,000 was unsecured and repayment

within 1 year. The effective interest rates per annum at the end of the
years were as follows:

R-Z-TF+— H +—8 RBITER
HASEEEN —EZRAPSEWER
HER ZVWEMREE  RFAEBEDA
274,711,000 L ( —E—NF : RAEH
UARBER—IELHERE - ERmMES
4996,072,000/87T) °

BEEZRITEFTHUAAREE

E 1 B 5X85,000,000/%8 JT & E K K ZH A 1
FRER - REER  BREFRERNOT :

2020 2019
Borrowings: BE :
Fixed-rate E B 8.00%-8.50% 8.00%-8.50%
The borrowings are repayable as follows: BEEARA T HHES
2020 2019
—ECEF —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
On demand or within one year LERS—FNR 251,012 263,784
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29.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

AMOUNT DUE TO THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

On 28 February 2017, Cloud Apex Global Limited agreed to assign all
rights, titles, benefits and interests of approximately HK$382,728,000
debt to the Controlling Shareholder and the Controlling Shareholder
agreed to subscribe for the convertible bonds in an aggregate principal
amount of HK$300,000,000 (the “Convertible Bonds”) issued by
the Company as detailed in Note 29 to replace the loan amounting to
HK$300,000,000.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had settled the interest-
bearing part of the amount due to the Controlling Shareholder. As at 31
December 2019, principal amount due to the Controlling Shareholder
of approximately HK$45,580,000 unsecured, interest bearing at 8%
per annum, and was repayable by annual equal instalments from 30
June 2017 to 30 June 2036 together with the related interests thereon.
The Company, at its discretion, may either make early or partial
repayment or request to defer repayment in accordance with the initial
repayment schedule if the Company does not have sufficient funds or
if such deferral of repayment is agreed between the Company and the
respective party.

The remaining amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and had no
fixed term of repayment.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 28 February 2017, the Company issued the Convertible Bonds in an
aggregate principal amount of HK$300,000,000 with a coupon rate of 3%
to the Controlling Shareholder as detailed in Note 28, payable quarterly in
arrears, no proceeds were raised on the issue of the Convertible Bonds.
The Convertible Bonds will mature from the date of issue to 30 June
2036 representing maturity period of 18.3 years, and can be converted
into a maximum of 187,500,000 conversion shares of the Company at
the conversion price of HK$1.6 per conversion shares upon full exercise
of the conversion rights by the end on the third anniversary to the date
of issue of the Convertible Bonds. On 16 April 2018, 150,000,000
conversion shares were allotted and issued, representing conversion of
Convertible Bonds at the principal amount of HK$240,000,000. On 26
August 2020, the Company early redeemed the Convertible Bonds.

—2-2EH

28.

29.

FEAY 12 IR AR SR AR K

RZE—+F A=+ N\B " ERRKXE
PR /X A [F) 2 1A 422 AR % BR 8 5 49.382,728,000
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RZZE-_ZEF+_-_A=+—H8 AQ7E
EERMNIZERBERRENGTESSD o B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

The Convertible Bonds recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position had been split between liability element and equity
component, and are calculated as follows:

29. AR ES ()

REEAMBARRKRERZ T RRESFEF
DRBER kS - AEEWT

Liability Equity

component component Total

=g IS et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

FHET FET FET

At 1 January 2019 R-ZE—hF—HA—H 43,308 15,983 59,291
Imputed interest expense EREES 2,385 - 2,385
Interest paid/payable B A E (1,800) - (1,800)

At 31 December 2019 and R-ZE—hhFE+-_A=+—H

1 January 2020 r—E-EF—H—H 43,893 15,983 59,876
Expiry of convertible option AR ERRE S W - (15,983) (15,983)
Imputed interest expense et B 1,579 - 1,579
Interest paid/payable B AT E (1,178) - (1,178)
Loss or early redemption RRERCEE 15,706 - 15,706
Early settlement by cash LIREIRFELEE (60,000) - (60,000)
At 31 December 2020 RZZ_ZEF+_A=+—H = - -

As at 31 December 2019, the interest charged for the year is calculated
by applying an effective interest rate of 5.46%.

RZZE-—NF+ZA=+—H  FAKF
BXHTYEA5.46%HM EBRENEAE -

The Directors estimate the fair value of the equity and liability
components of the Convertible Bonds at the issuance date with
reference to the independent valuation performed by an independent
valuer, Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited by discounting the
future cash flows at the specific discount rate under level 2 fair value
measurement.

EX2ZFUAEMUATEEFRANERA
BETZEYME BBEE_EATE
FET  REENFTREIFRRERER
B MBSt RRESESE KB ESEIR
BRITRHPZAFE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #iZ —Z&Z - =

=
I%JT A\H

BAF5 B E Y RE

Ft_A=1+—HIFE

HK$200,432,000 (2019: HK$135,294,000) and such tax losses may be
carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
for these tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams of

those subsidiaries.

—2-2EH

30. DEFERRED TAX 30. IEIERIE
The following are the detailed deferred tax liabilities and assets UTAREEERZELEHRIBEEENREE
recognised by the Group. ZEEE o
Properties  Revaluation
for sale  of property, Revaluation
under plant and of investment
development equipment properties Total
BET BEE B
HENXE BER&E REME @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2019 R-Z-NF—A—H 147,722 3,942 - 151,664
(Credit)/charge to consolidated RizaBREFGIA)/k
statement of profit or loss (62,510) - 3,662 (58,848)
(Credit)/charge to other comprehensive RENEMZEKAF
income for the year (& N)/ % - 5,140 - 5,140
Transfer R (1,513) - 1,513 -
Currency realignment B 1,788 (369) (82) 1,337
At 31 December 2019 and RZF-NFtA=1—HR
1 January 2020 —E-TF—HA—H 85,487 8,713 5,093 99,293
(Credit)/charge to consolidated RizaBREFGIA)/k
statement of profit or loss (22,642) (313 (22,955)
Currency realignment B 4,024 517 296 4,837
At 31 December 2020 RZZE-ZE+-A=+—H 66,869 9,230 5,076 81,175
At the end of the year, subject to the agreements with the tax authority, RER - BEEBBERERE  AEERE
the Group has unused tax losses of approximately HK$200,432,000 BEMEYZHMB AR Z K& AR EE
(2019: HK$135,294,000) for subsidiaries incorporated in Hong 18 49 /200,432,000 L ( = F — L F :
Kong available for offset against future profits of approximately 135,294,000 7t ) + A A /B 8 K 20

A 49 200,432,000 8 7T ( = & — fL F
135,294,000/ 7T ) © % E AR E T &R
HifEEE - N RAETBRIRZSHWEB AR Z A
BR AR - MARBRZEHIEBEER
RIERIIBEE ©

REZRERAT 7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. &
Number of
Note shares HK$’000
Bt Vgt 4= FET
Authorised: VERE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each F0.10E L 2 E Bk
At 1 January 2019, 31 December RZE—h&F—H—A1 "
2019, 1 January 2020 and —E-hEF+ZA=1+—8"
31 December 2020 ZEIEF-A—HK
—E-EF+-A=+—H 2,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRERE
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—hF—HF—H 1,186,315,700 118,632
Issue of shares upon share placement R D BR & 18 31 TR (D 1 10,170,000 1,017
At 31 December 2019, 1 January 2020 R_ZE—NF+_A=+—8"-
and 31 December 2020 —E-EF-A—HK
—EZEF+ZA=1+—H 1,196,485,700 119,649
Note KiaE

1 On 7 August 2019, the Company entered into a placing agreement with
a placing agent in respect of the placement of up to 15,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each to independent investors at a price of HK$0.50
per share. On 19 August 2019, 10,170,000 shares were issued and
allotted, the premium on the issue of shares amounted to approximately
HK$3,854,000, after net of share issue expenses of approximately
HK$214,000, was credited to the Company’s share premium account.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can
continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with the
level of risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost. The
Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the return to the
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it,
in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue
new shares, buyback shares, raise new debts, redeem existing debts or
sell assets to reduce debts.

'] /] 8 Tesson Holdings Limited

1 RZZT—AFNALB  AATHERER
BRI A RIZEIR0.508 TR BRR &5
%15,000,000/% FAX0. 108 TR EBAX T
BUREENEEHZE - RZT—NAFEN
B+8 © 10,170,000 A% 17 & B 2% % %%
17+ BT 2 (B 493,854,000 7T (45
MBRAZ 1D 21T RIS #9214,000/8 014 ) B &t
ARRRZRDRERR ©

BEXEE

AEEEEREANTIZARNIAREARE
SERENRES  RzREBRERR
IS EE R MRS TE (B S A& A AR
BE - B SRR RO A N 5
HEEXE - AREEREAE - URE
AEBAFERLE 2N - AREEEL
BEEBRAFE  BERFRNEALHRS
BiR -

AEBRELEREZ(CEREEARBL
EHAE - BERXABRERRRE A%
BRI RER B AR - BITHA - MEEK
o~ FIBER  BRREEBILEEE
PARER BT ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

32. RESERVES 32. f#E
(a) The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are (a) AEBZRFEESBENHEEZFHFBERR
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other SEBERLEMTEWRRRNESE
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in WEBE o
equity.
(b) Reserves of the Company (b) AARZHE
Capital Share-based  Convertible
Share  redemption  Contributed payment  bond equity ~Accumulated
premium reserve surplus reserve reserve losses Total
Nhte  TRRES
ROEE REBERE EARG ERAREE Bkl ZitFE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
AT FET AT AT AT AT AT
At1 January 2019 RZE-NE-F-H 822919 624 29,509 6,621 15,983 (381,684) 493.972
Loss for the year TEREE - - - - - (32,358) (32,359)
lssue of shares upon share placement  RARERETR(A 3854 - - - - - 3854
Equity settledl share-based ransactions ~ HUEREZHRAFTFLS - - - 821 - - 821
Lapse of share options B - - - (846) - 848 -
At 31 December 2019 and RZF-NETZA
1 January 2020 Zt-ARk=%-%
-A-H 826,773 624 29,509 6.594 15,983 (413,194) 466,289
Profit for the year TEEGRH = = - - - 375,075 375,075
Release upon expiry of convertible ERAREER N
option on bonds i - - - - (15,983) 15,983 -
Lapse of share options EfRERN = = = (344) - 344 -
At 31 December 2020 e
+-A=+-A 826,773 624 29509 6,250 - PI79) 841,364

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group

(i)

(i)

—2-2EH

Share premium

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of
shares at a price in excess of their par value per share and is
not distributable but may be applied in paying up unissued
shares of the Company to be issued to the shareholders of
the Company as fully paid bonus shares or in providing for
the premiums payable on repurchase of shares.

Capital redemption reserve
Capital redemption reserve arose from the reduction of the

nominal value of the issued share capital of the Company
upon the cancellation of the repurchased shares.

(c) *EERBIMERAR

) REE

Bt B RiRi R R EE
ZBRBETRAD M EE 24
B BTRBE2IK - ER B
ARz ARARBERETT
ARBBRRZANRRAREITR
DS B E A0 FE 5 2

fE e
(i) FRASE LA
P 7 B [0 £ 85 70 B K 1 B RE 3R

BERN<EBEITRARER
DMELE e

xEzpERaa 119



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IRE
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZF - FE - F#+ - H=+—HI F&E

32. RESERVES (CONTINUED) 32. & (&)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group (c) AEEREBEZMHERRAZE)
(Continued)
(i)  EXfHlE
(i) Capital reserve
BARFEEBEN B AR KRG
Capital reserve represents the difference between the HEEAQABRE—NLIN\FE
nominal value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and TEBEHESERNESEMR
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the BITROEBECZERE ©
acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation in 1998.
(iv)  Share-based payment reserve (v) ARG BB FE
The share-based payment reserve represents the fair value of LARS 7 AR R EE IR E
the actual or estimated number of unexercised share options ZE SRR B M sE3ARLLAIR (D
granted to employees and directors of the Group recognised BERREMR 2 2R R
in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for share- BERTAREEEBRESEZR
based payments in Note 3 to the consolidated financial TEEREERSETEE 2
statements. ARSI
(v)  Contributed surplus V) EHEER

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the consolidated shareholders’ funds
of Kith Limited at the date on which it was acquired by
the Company, and the nominal amount of the Company’s
shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the group
reorganisation in 1998.

Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, the contributed
surplus account of the Company is available for distribution.
However the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or

KRAZEH R B IEKih
Limited 72 # 2 & &) U ig & H
ZEAERRESEHAQLTE
—NMANFETEBEEEER
MU EEEIEEIT 2RO EE
AEEE o

REBEAREREE  ARAZ
ERERRAHDIK o AT
ARBETINERTAANRE

make a distribution out of contributed surplus if: IRSBURMREE » D RERE
BRI A ¢

- it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its = W8 B SR R 5 18 K (B

liabilities as they become due; or SHIHENZBE 3

- the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share
capital and share premium accounts.

'] 20 Tesson Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

32. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c)

Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group
(Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

—2-2EH

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out
in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Asset revaluation reserve

Assets revaluation reserve has been set up and are dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for
property, plant and equipment in Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Convertible bond equity reserve

The convertible bonds equity reserve represents the value
of the unexercised equity component of convertible bonds
issued by the Company recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds in Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Other reserve

Other reserves represent the amount of enterprise expansion
fund capitalised by the relevant PRC subsidiaries and the
difference between the net proceeds received or paid after
deducting the transaction costs and the adjustment to the
non-controlling interests resulted from the equity transaction
with non-controlling interests.

32. f## (&)
(c) FREERBIMERBEE)

(v)

(vii)

(vii)

(x)

SNEE S e

SNEERFRHBREMAERRE
BINEE IR B EL 2 MNE
8 o REBIRELEAMBER
B3 @t BRI -

BEZITMHE

ARBERIEESHFEE
WiRiRsR & MR B M523
X BERRERA G
RERIE o

AR (B 55 o 1

AR E SR s F AR REAR
MR B 3R AT R E
FRM 2 T BRFFEARRTA
PRI B E S RIT s
oz EE-

Bl

H e AT BN EA
BATURERNMEZ EXBRES
TE A ENRR B IR
SETHRERISMEEZR S
XA e JE B AR s T B AR - P
WERS S 2 R F R 2R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 g =

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HZ —ZF —FF+ - H=+—HIFFZF

33.

e PR B MR

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants
include the full-time and part-time employees, executives, officers,
directors, business consultants, agents, legal and financial advisers of
the Company and the Company’s subsidiaries. The Scheme became
effective on 13 June 2012 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted
to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at 23 May
2017. The maximum number of shares issuable under the Scheme to
each eligible participant within any 12-month period, is limited to 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue as at 23 May 2017. Any further
grant of shares options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Details of the share options are as follows:

33. LS AE 2B R

ARAREBRETS (18] EER
Eb&a%ﬁz%zl»‘%@%ﬁnzﬁﬁﬂ’ﬁﬁ ARtz
RERSEE - GEBR2BAEBEARTF
EARRBMBAR 2B RBES - 17

BAB - EE-EF  XHER - LE -
EREMBERE - SER T ——FXA

T=ZAREN  RIEXZBEUHHIER] - &
AlEZBRTFRDAER -

RIBEAE BRARBZRITEBRER
B&ZAHENEETERERRRN
T—tFREA-T=ZRAZEETRHZ
10% ° RAEMR+ @A BME R - RIEE
BUABRSEAEREZTHRNESH
B UARBER-_Z—tFHEA-+=H
ZEBETRNM1%RIE o ERFEIMREE
B RBRBBEBIERRAS LERR
B o

BREZFRNT

Weighted
average
exercise price
hnFEF
TEE

HK$

BT

Number of
share options

BRERE

Outstanding at 1 January 2019

R-ZZT—-NF—HA—BRITE

0.85 17,400,000

Lapsed during the year FANE KK 0.85 (2,100,000)
Outstanding at 31 December 2019 and RZZE—NF+_A=+—HK

1 January 2020 —EEF—A—HRIFE 0.85 15,300,000
Lapsed during the year FRE LA 0.85 (800,000)
Outstanding at 31 December 2020 RZZEZZTE+_A=+—HRTHE 0.85 14,500,000
Exercisable at LA BEBRI1T(E

31 December 2019 —n¢+—ﬂ == 15,300,000

31 December 2020 T F+ZA=1+—H 14,500,000

'] 22 Tesson Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

33. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE OPTION SCHEME 33. LSRR ERT 8 (&)
(CONTINUED)

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows: EASHE 7 BEEFERIZEIE T -
Categories Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price
5l R A R T TEE
HK$
BT
2016A 11/11/2016 1 year 11/11/2017 to 10/11/2021 0.85
—E—RFA —E-XFt+—A+—H 14 —tF+—A+—H=
—ZE-_—%+—H+H
2016B 11/11/2016 2 years 11/11/2018 to 10/11/2021 0.85
“E-RFB ZE—RFT—A+—H 2F Z—-N\F+—H+—HZE
—E-—%+—HA+H
2016C 11/11/2016 3 years 11/11/2019 to 10/11/2021 0.85
—E—RFC - "F+—A+—H 3F —NWF+—A+—H=

—E-—%+—A+H

The options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 0.86 years (2019: 1.86 years) and the
exercise price is HK$0.85 (2019: HK$0.85). The share options were
granted on 11 November 2016. The estimated fair values of the options
on those dates are approximately HK$10,473,000.

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial model. The inputs
into the model are as follows:

Weighted average share price HK$0.85
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.85
Expected volatility 63%
Expected life 2-4 years
Risk free rate 0.84%
Expected dividend yield 0%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility
of the Company’s share price over the previous 4 years. The expected
life used in the model has been adjusted, based on the Group’s best
estimate, for the effects of non transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.

—2-2EH

FERRITEBRAE Z INEF R T & L H]
[RAB0.86F(—F—NF : 1.86%F) R1TE
ERO. 85557_E(:§—j1¢ 1 0.85/87T) ©
BRECR -_Z-—XR"F+—HA+—B&
He BRENRZERRZMEFAFENR
10,473,000 7T °

ZERFEA-_BABEAGFTE - B 2H

AZBIT

e E 0.85/87T

INFEFITEE 0.85%8 7T

TEH& R 63%

%EEH&IZE 2-4%F
[ B A1) 2= 0.84%

ﬁ%kéwﬁ 0%

BHIK RSB E AR RIEEAFRENE
SLREMEE - RANABERFREE
RARE 2 HEGFAAER - TER
HIRITRENEBRENTZEELAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HZ —ZF —FF+ - H=+—HIFFZF

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 34. MERERNERMETE
OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities BETHELECEEEE
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities arising from TR FEFRNAEERE TG ELE2BE
financing activities during the year: BHE)
Amount
due to the Total liabilities
Lease Controlling Convertible from financing
liabilities Borrowings  Shareholder bonds activities
FERER METEE
HEEE &E RRRR TERES BEEE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NF—A—-A - 68,310 47,478 43,308 159,096
Adoption of HKFRS 16 RINE B BREER 165 36,824 - - - 36,324
Changes in cash flows Bene# (12,971) 198,520 (452) - 185,097
Non-cash changes FEREE
Additions RE 863 - - - 863
Interest expenses FlERX 2,022 15,735 3,669 - 21,426
Imputed interest expense Bt f e Y = - - 2,385 2,385
Interest payable FERFIE = (15,735) 1,800 (1,800) (15,735)
Exchange differences SNEHBER - (3,046) - = (3,046)

At 31 December 2019 and RZE-hE+=-A=1+—8
H

1 January 2020 E=E=TEFE—H— 26,738 263,784 52,495 43,893 386,910
Changes in cash flows Bene® (8,463) (22,508) (56,498) (60,000) (147,469)
Non-cash changes FReE

Loss on early redemption of REEQHEESRZ

Convertible Bonds &g - - - 15,706 15,706

Interest expenses FEFAX 1,575 20,338 2,893 = 24,806

Imputed interest expense EHEUSYE? - - - 1,579 1,579

Interest payable FERFIE - (20,338) 1,178 (1,178) (20,338)

Exchange differences SMER BER 885 9,736 = = 10,621
At 31 December 2020 RZZEZTF+-A=1—H 20,735 251,012 68 - 271,815
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

35. SUMMARISED FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35. QBB REE
COMPANY
2020 2019
—ECIEF =N
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR ZIZE 44,089 44,089
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEWPI B AR 2R 1,029,078 1,159,310
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments  EfthEUBRFL « 5] & RFEFRIE 656 111
Bank and cash balances RITRIA &R 980 77
1,030,714 1,159,498
Current liabilities RBAE
Accruals and other payables FEET B A R B A FETBR K 28,722 20,933
Amounts due to subsidiaries JERTBI B A RIBR IR - 415,367
Amount due to the Controlling Shareholder FE T e B AR AR K 68 9,556
Other borrowing HEmEE 85,000 85,000
113,790 530,856
Net current assets REEEFE 916,924 628,642
Non-current liabilities FRBERS
Convertible bonds AT AR EZS - 43,893
Amount due to the Controlling Shareholder FE - 1252 A B BR AR X - 42,900
- 86,793
NET ASSETS EEFE 961,013 585,938
Capital and reserves EXERf#EiE
Share capital (%N 119,649 119,649
Reserves EE 841,364 466,289
TOTAL EQUITY EREEE 961,013 585,938

—E-%EH XERRERAT D5
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the year, the Group and the Company did not have any
significant contingent liabilities (2019: Nil).

37. LITIGATIONS

As at 31 December 2020, certain subsidiaries of the Company were
involved in litigation or claims of material importance arising in the
ordinary course of business as follows:

(@ On 15 January 2019, Tesson Weinan, a subsidiary of the Company,
filed a claim with the Suzhou Industrial Park People’s Court
against a customer (the “Customer”), claiming for the payment
of batteries at the amount of approximately RMB22,100,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$26,206,000) and interest of
late payment of approximately RMB2,666,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$3,161,000). The Customer counterclaimed
against Tesson Weinan for the loss caused by the quality problem
of the batteries supplied by Tesson Weinan of approximately
RMB6,225,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$7,382,000).
According to the judgement dated 29 May 2020 and issued by
the Industrial Park People’s Court, the Customer was liable to pay
Tesson Weinan for the batteries together with overdue interests in
the total amount of approximately RMB24,766,000 (equivalent to
approximately 29,368,000), whereas Tesson Weinan was liable to
pay to the Customer approximately RMB1,150,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,364,000) for its counterclaim. On 7 August
2020, the Customer lodged an appeal. On 10 March 2021, the
Intermediate People’s Court of Suzhou City maintained the original
judgement.

(b)  On 9 August 2019, a constructor company (the “Constructor”)
filed a claim with the People’s court of Linwei district, Weinan City
against Tesson Weinan, claiming for the payment of construction
costs at the amount of approximately RMB13,244,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$15,705,000) and interest of late payment
of approximately RMB48,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$57,000). According to the judgement dated 4 November
2019 and issued by the People’s Court of Linwei district, Weinan
City, Tesson Weinan was liable to pay to the Constructor the said
construction costs and overdue interests. Tesson Weinan has
lodged an appeal to the Intermediate People’s Court of Weinan
City. On 29 May 2020, the Intermediate People’s Court of Weinan
City withdrew the judgment of the People’s Court and ordered
that the case be retried at the People’s Court. On 16 December
2020, the People’s Court of Linwei district, Weinan City, ruled
that Tesson Weinan was liable to pay to the Constructor the said
construction costs and overdue interests. On 30 December 2020,
Tesson Weinan lodged an appeal. As at the date of approving
these consolidated financial statements, the trial is still in progress.

'] 26 Tesson Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

37. LITIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

(©)

On 26 August 2019, a supplier of certain lithium ion motive battery
machine (“Supplier A”) filed a claim with Shenzhen Longhua
District People’s Court against certain subsidiaries of the Group,
namely, Tesson New Energy Research (Nanjing) Limited (“Tesson
Nanjing”), Tesson Weinan and Tesson New Energy (Shenzhen)
Limited (“Tesson Shenzhen”) claiming for the payment of machine
at the amount of approximately RMB42,355,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$50,225,000), penalty payment of approximately
RMB2,118,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,512,000) and
related interests. According to the judgement dated 21 January
2020 and a supplemental judgement dated 3 March 2020 issued
by the People’s Court, Tesson Nanjing was liable to pay to
Supplier A an amount of approximately RMB35,478,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$42,070,000), representing the consideration
of the machine and penalty payment. Both parties have lodged an
appeal to Intermediate People’s Court in Shenzhen City.

Tesson Nanjing has filed a writ with the Intermediate People’s
Court in Shenzhen city on 26 August 2019 against Supplier A,
requesting to terminate the sales and purchase agreement and
supplementary agreements in relation to the abovementioned
disputed transaction and demanding Supplier A to return the
amount paid of approximately RMB46,355,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$54,968,000), to pay the penalty of
approximately RMB17,716,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$21,008,000).

On 29 January 2021, all parties has reached a mediation
agreement. Tesson Nanjing agreed to pay Supplier A
RMB34,725,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$41,177,000)
in five installments, whereas Supplier A agreed to release the
preservation measures on the said machines after receiving
the payment, and take measures to activate and optimize the
operating system of the said machine.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HZ —ZF —FF+ - H=+—HIFFZF

37. LITIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

(d) On 24 September 2019, a supplier of certain equipment (“Supplier
B”) filed a claim with the People’s Court of Xiangzhou district,
Zhuhai City, Guangdong Province against Tesson Weinan
and Tesson Shenzhen, claiming for the payment of machine
at the amount of approximately RMB6,950,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$8,241,000) and provisional penalty payment
of approximately RMB3,603,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,272,000). According to the judgement dated 7 April 2020
and issued by the People’s Court, the subsidiaries were liable to
pay to Supplier B the said amount for the machine and penalty
payment in the total amount of approximately RMB9,492,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$11,256,000). The subsidiaries
counterclaimed against Supplier B for the loss arising from its
delay in the completion of the installation and debugging of the
customised equipment. The counterclaim was dismissed by the
People’s Court on 7 April 2020. Both parties have lodged an
appeal to the Intermediate People’s Court. On 11 November 2020,
the Intermediate People’s Court maintained the original judgement.

As at 31 December 2020, certain subsidiaries of the Group are
defendants on the lawsuits in addition to the abovementioned,
accordingly bank balances of these subsidiaries in total of approximately
RMB5,811,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$6,891,000) was
frozen by the court. Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31
December 2020, no member of the Group is subject to any litigation,
arbitration or claim of material importance and no litigation or claim
of material importance is known to the Directors to be pending or
threatened against any member of the Group.

'] 28 Tesson Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

38. LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Group as lessor

At the end of the year, the Group had contracted with tenants for the
following future minimum lease payments:

38. HEHRIE
FEEEREER

RER  REBRBEPFTZATRERKE
MEMNKER

2020 2019
—EEF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Within one year —FR 835 1,376
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_FEERF(RREBEWT) 3,654 6,418
After five years hFE 3,486 17,419
7,975 25,213
39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 39. EAREIE
The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the year are as follows: RER - AEE 2 EXRAENT -
2020 2019
—E-%F —TNEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Contracted but not provided for B RTAE R BHE
- Property, plant and equipment — % - BB R 40,435 42,757
40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. BEALIRS
2020 2019
—ECEF —ET-NEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
Interest expenses on Convertible Bonds and AR (EH & E (NI IR R AR 2
amount due to the Controlling Shareholder FERZ(Hat10 - 28%29)
(Notes 10, 28 and 29) 4,472 6,054
Key management personnel remuneration FTEEBEAB ZFHMH

The emoluments of the Company’s Directors, who are also identified as
members of key management of the Group, are set out in Note 13.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR B MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE_-—F -FF |+ —-H=+—HIFFZF

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF 41. AARTEME AT 2 &8

THE COMPANY

The table below lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the financial position of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the
years are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

TREVNEETRREUAFEREELE
AP ERBRARERERRAEEZRD 2
ARFIMBLTF - EFRE - WHIIEAM
MBARZFHE  GRERBRITE -

RER > AR ETEMBRRZERAT :

Percentage of the Company’s

Name registration Issued/paid-up capital  indirect ownership interest  Principal activities
&8 A/ BRI/ HRERA FAUEREERARL  TEER
2020 2019

- ki
AR ER AR The PRC RMB850,000,000 95.00% 95.00%  Tracing of lithium ion battery products
Tesson New Energy (Shen Zhen) Limited i ABRH850,0000007C EEHRTEER
REFERERAE The PRC RMB1,000,000,000 64.60% 64.60%  Manufacturing of ithium ion battery products
Tesson New Energy Company Limited" i ARE1,000,000,0007 EERTEHER
AR R ERERAR The PRC RMB150,000,000 81.32% 64.60%  Research and development centre
Tesson New Energy Research (Nanjing) Limited* G AR150,000,0007T RN
BRANEREABRAR The PRC RMB200,000,000 64.60% 99.00%  Property holding
Nanjing Rongzhou Cuttural Industry Investment Company Limited* 1S AR200,000,0007 S
BEMAMKERRAR The PRC RMB30,000,000 40.92% 66.00%  Property development
Nanchang Rongzhou Investment Company Limited* G AR%30,0000007 VIELS
RERNXLERARAR The PRC RMB20,000,000 61.37% 94.05%  Property development
Nanjing Rongzhou Cuttural Broadcasting Company Limited G AR%20,0000007 IEZE
EMERESERAA The PRC RMB5,836,735 31.30% 4797%  Cuttural senvice
Guangzhou Lingzhong Advertising Company Limited* e AR%5,836,7357C Bqd v

'] 80 Tesson Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B AR B BYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE - E - FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group as at 31 December
2020. The summarised financial information represents amounts before

4. ARTNEEMB AT 2ER(E)

TRINAR-ZBE-_ZEF+-_A=+—8#%
BYHAEEMSBEARZ IEERER([3F
BREZR D ZWNBRRIZER - A%

inter-company eliminations.

BRHESEARRMERHENZ S5

Nanchang Tesson New Energy
Name Investment Company Limited”
Z28 MERE REFHERERATN
2020 2019 2020 2019
—ECDEF —T-NF —T-TF —FT-NF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$’000
FETT FET FAETT FET
Principal place of business and country FEEBFLEME R PRC PRC
of incorporation Rl AVACIES FE e
% of ownership interests and voting IR ERIEE R
rights held by NCI BRI EE
B9 (%) 59.08% 34.00% 35.40% 35.40%
At 31 December: R+=—A=+—8:
Non-current assets IERHEE 23,682 33,417 545,050 601,185
Current assets RENEE 670,930 906,423 238,323 192,496
Current liabilities mENAE (660,676) (1,179,542) (288,246) (223,074)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE (3,527) (3,660) (9,068) (12,150)
Net assets BEFE 30,409 (243,362) 486,059 558,457
Accumulated NCI RIS 17,966 (82,743) 172,065 197,870
Year ended 31 December: BZ+=-—A=+—H
LEE:
Revenue Wz 603,833 830,519 149,171 53,167
Profit/(loss) wm ), (E18) 206,116 257,359 (86,411)  (116,819)
Total comprehensive income FHEN B 206,116 257,359 (60,494) (73,110)
Profit/(loss) allocated to NCI DEEE IR 2
wm A, (E518) 121,773 87,502 (30,589)  (41,354)
Dividends distributed to NCI BRIk T IR
RS - = - =
Net cash used in operating activities BRI 2R R (74,477)  (109,277) (7,517)  (115,618)
Net cash generated from/(used), in investing & & EBFT1E,/ (TR )2
activities - Rprit 10,089  (28,356) 444 (34,367)
Net cash generated from financing activites gi& /& ENAT15 2 IH & /55 54,857 109,624 185,287 174,856
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash & NIBEEHEM 2
equivalents CR) g hnEsE (8,631) (28,509) 178,214 24,871
A Included its subsidiaries. A BIEENEAR
42. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 42, #EFRESMKIRE
STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for RAEVBEEERETEN T —F =
issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2021. A=+—BH#0fERER#ETEE -
—ETER REZRERAF



SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES

YE S

PROPERTIES FOR SALES UNDER DEVELOPMENT BREPSEYE
Approximate  Approximate
sitearea gross floor area Group’s Year of completion/
Location Purpose (sq.m.) (sqm.) interest  Stage of completion expected completion
B4
BOSHER  LREER =R/ Fit
% i3 (FAX) (FAX) ARERE THEE TREE
Rongzhou Gangjiucheng, Wuhuazhong Road, Residential and commercial 99973 373,740 40.92%  Under development 2018 -2021
South of 320 National Highway, Wangcheng New District, £ 7% ERe “E-\EE-FC-E
Nanchang City, Jiangxi Province, PRC*
hEIEAMETHRE 2N E0EE
BENERERMEAS
Fengxiang Terrace-Rongzhou Cultural Centre, Residential and commercial 13,148 85,215 61.37%  Under development 2022
North of Fengling Section, Minzu Avenue, Qingxu District, 3 R78% HEm “5--
Nanning, Guangxi, PRC*
TERERETEARREARERERLE
South of Xiushan East Road and East of Qinhual Avenue, Residential and commercial 104,600 fohe 64.60%  Planning stage tobe determined
Lishui Economic Development Zone, Nanjing Ciy, frEREs determined Halks #F
Jiangsu Province, PRC* BT

hETHER R R ERERALRRERFEAER
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